

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Exploring the Relationships Between Autism Parent Training and Fathers' Parental Involvement

Ray Brown Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Disability Studies Commons, and the Educational Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Science

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Ray A. Brown

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Rolande Murray, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Donna Heretick, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Carolyn Davis, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Exploring the Relationships Between Autism Parent Training and Fathers'

Parental Involvement

By

Ray A. Brown

MS, Springfield College, 2004

BS, University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, 1992

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

General Education Psychology

Walden University

May 2022

Abstract

As the prevalence of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in American children has increased over the past decade, many local and state agencies are seeking avenues to become more efficient in the type of training services they offer. One such training is referred as Autism Parent Training (APT). The purpose of this study is to explore the relationship between fathers' participation in APT and the factors related to involvement with their children prior to training and after attending training. This study relied on the developmental learning perspective as a theoretical framework, which asserts that the experience a person has in his/her life can contribute to defining one's parenting style. The focus of this study was a group of 42 fathers who have children with ASD and who attended APT class. The Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges scale was used to evaluate the fathers with regards to their feelings of stress, coping strategies for stress, ideas about responsibility, and ability to be involved. The group was evaluated prior to the training period, immediately after the end of the training, and 30 days after the training period. A one-way ANOVA with repeated measures and a paired t test were conducted to compare changes in performance across time for each of the dependent variables. The study did not produce a significant effect as the sample size was too small. The study was modified from its original design due to COVID: face-to-face training and recruitment that was replaced by online training and recruitment. If the study could have been completed in its original format, the result could have been significantly different. This study highlights the gap in knowledge regarding support for father involvement and children with ASD, a critical area for positive social change.

Exploring the Relationships Between Autism Parent Training and Fathers'

Parental Involvement

By

Ray A. Brown

MS, Springfield University, 2004

BS, University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, 1992

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

General Education Psychology

Walden University

Spring 2022

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	3
Theoretical Framework	5
Research Questions	6
Nature of the Study	8
Definitions	8
Assumptions	9
Scope and Delimitations	9
Limitations	10
Significance	11
Summary	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	13
Introduction	13
Literature Search Strategies	13
Theoretical Framework	15
Literature Review Related to Variables and Key Concepts	16
Reduction of Maternal Stress	21
Father's Involvement	24
Engagement	

Table of Contents

Accessibility	
Fathers' Strategies for Coping With Stress	
Fathers and Stress	
Summary	
Chapter 3: Research Method	
Introduction	
Research Design and Rationale	
Methodology	
Population and Sampling	
Sampling	
The Independent Variable	41
Instrumentation	41
Data Analysis	
Threats to Validity	43
Minimizing Threats to Internal Validity	43
Testing43	
Attrition	
Minimizing Threats to External Validity	
Selection Bias	
Ethical Procedures	
Role of the Researcher	45
Summary	46

Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Research Findings	47
Introduction	47
Participants	
Data Analysis and Assumptions	50
Table 2	
Assumptions of Sphericity	
Assumption of Outliers	
Figure 1	
Missingness	
Reliability	53
Table 4	54
Descriptive Statistics for the Dependent Variables	54
Repeated measures ANOVAs	69
Paired t Tests	71
Limitation	72
Recommendations and Implications	72
Conclusion	73
References	74
Appendix A: Research Announcement	91
Appendix B: Participation in Research	92
Appendix C: Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC)	
Questionnaire	95

Appendix D: Demographic Graphs	s96
--------------------------------	-----

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

As the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders (ASD) in Americans has increased from 1 in 59 in 2014 to 1 in 44 in 202021 (Centers for Disease Control [CDC], 2022), agencies have been seeking means to become more efficient in the type of services offered, attempting to ensure that families are more involved in implementing these services. The implementation of empirically supported treatments (ESTs) or evidencebased treatment strategies (ETS), such as discrete trail training, auditory integration training, applied behavior analysis training, and caregiver-based intervention training has become a norm in autism-specific services. This has increased the need for parental participation in autism parent training (APT) to enable them to learn ways to implement these strategies (Steiner et al., 2012).

Laxman (2015) analyzed data on 50 children with ASD and found that their mothers reported fewer depressive symptoms when their fathers were more willing to participate in caregiving activities. This suggests that greater involvement by fathers in terms of participation in the caregiving of an autistic child may, in turn, be beneficial for the mother's well-being and promote positive developmental outcomes for their child. Researchers have concluded that fathers' participation in autism treatment may help lessen the stress and burden placed on mothers, who generally take on the role of primary caregivers (Steiner et al., 2012).

Steiner et al. (2012) suggested that both mothers and fathers may suffer from mental health related issues as a result of the high level of stress from the caregiving responsibility of an autistic child. They further stated that such family dynamics should be considered when developing parent education programs. Owing to the impact of implementing behavioral interventions and other treatment protocols, parents with children diagnosed with ASD are more likely to experience increased stress compared to their counterparts with typically developing children, especially mothers (Darling et al., 2012). Research examining fathers' participation in autism training also concluded that mothers from families where the father is involved feel that fathers' involvement in training improved their children's behavioral problems compared to when they were uninvolved or absent (Bagner, 2013).

As fathers' involvement in the life of their children is often important, I aimed to gain a deeper understanding of the relationships between APT and fathers' involvement with their children. Autism is known to affect people from all socioeconomic backgrounds and races (Autism Speaks, 2016). ASD affects 1 in 58 children, specifically 1 in 42 boys, as boys are diagnosed with autism four times more often than girls (Autism Speaks, 2018). The remainder of this chapter includes the background of APT and fathers' involvement, the problem statement regarding fathers' involvement and the need for fathers to increase participation in APT, and the purpose of the study to explore the relationship between APT and the factors regarding fathers' involvement. This chapter also discusses the significance of the study in terms of contributing to the research regarding fathers' involvement, the theoretical framework of the social learning theory, the nature of the study, and a summary.

Background

According to the Autism Division (AD) records of the region of the southeastern U.S under study, less than 20% of fathers whose children received a diagnosis of autism from AD attended the state-sponsored APT. While these data may offer some insight into the low rate of fathers' participation in APT, there are no specific national or state data on fathers' participation in APT. Bagner (2013) asserted that traditional studies on parent training fail to include fathers' involvement. However, AD (2016) records concluded that within a 12-month period, only 11 fathers attended its training compared to 153 mothers. The difference in participation between fathers and mothers was striking.

The findings from a recent government report (CDC, 2014) suggested a rise in the rate of children diagnosed with ASD. The questionnaire findings suggested that 1 in 59 children between the ages of 3 and 17 have been diagnosed with ASD. As the prevalence rates of ASD in American children have increased over the past few years, many local and state agencies are seeking avenues to become more efficient in the type of training services they offer in order to ensure that families are more involved in using and implementing these services, which could lead to a reduction in the rate of ASD.

Problem Statement

Several ESTs or ETSs are presently a standard part of ASD services. They include sample interventions such as discrete trail training, auditory integration training, applied behavior analysis training, and care-giver-based intervention training (Tolin et al., 2015). Within these models, APT is an important part for their effectiveness (Steiner et al., 2012). In support of father participation in APT, Laxman (2015) conducted research with 50 children with ASD and found that the mothers of these children reported less depressive symptoms when the fathers were more willing to participate in caregiving activities. This finding suggests that increased involvement by fathers through active participation in the caregiving of autistic children may, in turn, lead to benefits for the child's as well as the mother's overall well-being. Some researchers concluded that a father's participation in autism treatment may help lessen the stress and burden placed on mothers who generally assume the role of primary caregivers (Steiner et al., 2012).

Steiner et al. (2012) further suggested that mothers might experience mental health-related issues due to high level of stress owing to the primary responsibility for the care of a child with autism. It is suggested that family dynamics be considered when developing parent education programs. A study examining fathers' participation in autism training also concluded that mothers from father-involved families report that the father's involvement in training improved the child (ren)'s behavioral problems compared to families with uninvolved fathers and/or absent fathers (Bagner, 2013).

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the effects of APT training on father involvement behavior as well as affective and attitudinal factors that may be related to involvement behaviors. A repeated measures design was used to evaluate the dependent variables among a group of fathers who attend APT training. In order to evaluate possible changes across time, the fathers were evaluated prior to the beginning of the training, at the end of the training, and 30 days after training ended. Using the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenge Questionnaire (FCDCQ; Ly & Goldberg, 2014) scale, I assessed four critical factors to rate fathers' involvement: overall feelings of stress, coping strategies for dealing with stress, ability to be involved with their children, and ideas about being responsible for the care of their children. The goal was to evaluate the effects of the training program across these behavioral, affective, and attitudinal components of father involvement. The results provided valuable information concerning the overall effectiveness of the training as well as the effects on specific cognitiveaffective-behavioral components of father involvement.

Theoretical Framework

The social learning theory (Bandura, 1963) suggests that learning and social behavior are interconnected variables developed through observation and imitation. This theory hypothesizes that learning can be produced through direct instruction and without reward or compensation; however, rewards and compensation can be motivators in learning (Bandura, 1963). The social learning theory hypothesizes that observational learning can also take place but with reinforcement that is ongoing and consistent. Like other behavioral theories, this theory asserts that learning can be achieved using rewards; at the same time, it also emphasizes the importance of the internal variables in the learning process. Bandura's (1963) theory further suggests that the integration of observational and the internal factors of learning provide a broader narrative of learning. The primary hypothesis of this theory is as follows:

- The learning process is not purely observational but has internal factors integrated in a real-life format.
- The learning process can be manifested via behavioral observation and the reinforcement of behaviors.
- The learning process is based on decisions made after observing behaviors.
- The learning process requires reinforcement; however, reinforcement is only a part of the process.

The social learning theory also asserts that one's behavior is determined by environmental factors and it in turn has an effect on the environment. Bandura (1963) referred to this as the concept of reciprocal determinism. In essence, a person tends to reinforce with others in their environment the behaviors that are reinforced to them. This leads to an increase in the interaction between one's environment and personal behaviors. Moreover, the social learning theory suggests that live, verbal and symbolic modeling plays a major role in learning. Bandura asserted that observation and modeling produces cognitive and behavioral responses that include the following key elements for social learning: (a) the ability to be attentive to instruction, (b) to retain the information being taught, (c) to reproduce that information, and (d) to have the motivation to learn (Bandura, 1963).

Research Questions

I investigated the following questions to evaluate changes across time among the fathers of children with ASD who attended APT training:

RQ1: Are there changes in a father's stress because of participation in APT?

 H_01 : A father's stress, as measured by the stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 1: A father's stress, as measured by the stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

RQ2: Are there changes in a father's coping strategies for stress because of his participation in APT?

 H_02 : A father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 2: A father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

RQ3: Are there changes in a father's ideas about responsibility because of his participation in APT?

 H_03 : A father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 3: A father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

RQ4: Are there changes in a father's ability to be involved because of his participation in APT?

 H_0 4: A father's ability to be involved, as measured by the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 4: A father's ability to be involved, as measured by the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

Nature of the Study

I assessed the research questions through a quantitative approach with a withinsubject (time of assessment) comparison of scores reported at different points (pre, post, and post post). I explored differences across time in father's self-reported stress levels, coping ability with stress, sense of responsibility, and ability to be involved (FCDDQ; Ly & Goldberg, 2014).

Responses to all the subscales were collected thrice: prior to the APT training, at the end of the training, and 30 days after the end of the training. Then, the research hypotheses were assessed using repeated ANOVA. The findings of this study were expected to offer insight about the experiences of fathers and further knowledge about the specific benefits of APT training in affecting a father's involvement with his child(ren) with ASD.

Definitions

Autism spectrum disorder: A neuro-developmental disorder that affects language, social and cognitive development, which tends to have an early childhood onset (CDC, 2018).

Parental ideas of responsibility: Defined as parents' beliefs about their role in ensuring that their children have the basic needs that are required to be taken care of (Lamb et al., 1987; Pleck & Masciadrelli, 2007; Pleck, 2010).

Parental involvement: Defined as parents' face involvement with their children in daily living activities (Pleck, 2010).

Parental strategies: Strategies to cope with stress are defined by Lazarus and Folkman (1984) as behavioral inventions of cognitive or emotional nature that can reduce stress.

Parental stress: Defined as stress that parents experience resulting from their inability to address the expectation or needs of their children (Kirby Deater-Deckard et al., 2017).

Parent training: Referred in some research circles as behavioral training for parents to treat their children's aberrant or disruptive behaviors (Bearss et al., 2015). With respect to this study, the term APT referred to parents' training that promotes the acquisition of skill or behavior change in the child and the parent.

Assumptions

For the purpose of this research, it was assumed that parents understood the questions and responded honestly. I assumed that the parents possessed sufficient self-awareness to answer the questions reliably and were sufficiently motivated to complete the training and all other aspects of the study. It was assumed that the training program and the measurement instruments were reliable and valid, therefore providing sufficient internal validity for the study.

Scope and Delimitations

This study was focused on fathers and their involvement with their child(ren) with ASD. The sample belonged to a region of the southeastern U.S. and their children were eligible for state-funded autism services. Part of these services involve APT designed to suggest parental strategies that help in dealing with increased parental involvement and the reduction of stress through the implementation of applied behavior analysis (ABA)

techniques. The research sample comprised 22 fathers; the FCDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014), a closed-ended Likert scale response questionnaire was used as the data collection method. This was the only measure used in the study, which captured data at three points during the study as stated earlier, which enhanced the validity of the data. The literature regarding father involvement is replete with studies that suggest the need for increased father involvement; this study could encourage future studies on this subject.

This study was delimited to a group of fathers, from a region of the southeast U.S., who had children with ASD. The data collected through the FCDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014) provided information regarding four critical factors that could affect fathers' involvement with their children after participating in APT. The factors included fathers' overall feelings and coping strategies for dealing with stress, the ability to be involved with their children, and ideas for being responsible for the care of their children.

Limitations

The limitations of the study were that a repeated measures design could lead to dropouts, which could then affect the final sample size. Beyond the treatment, time constraints or personal issues could also affect whether participants returned the questionnaire in a timely manner; this could affect the post-treatment scores.

Methodological weaknesses could stem from the use of only one measure with several robust subscales and the possibility of unrecognized confounding variables that could not be evaluated without a no-treatment control group. Biases could have influenced the study outcomes if the participants were familiar with me or were previously trained by me. I ensured this by only recruiting fathers unfamiliar with the researcher. Additionally, the services of regional disability agencies were availed in the recruitment of fathers to ensure an adequate number of participants.

Significance

The study could contribute to the professional literature by exploring the relationship between APT and factors related to father involvement. It could also contribute to the present research by gaining further insight into a father's experience in relation to raising a child with ASD. Steiner et al. (2012) suggested that parents' participation in autism training is an essential part of most comprehensive behavioral intervention programs. Perhaps mothers have been the focus of numerous studies because they are the ones who show up for treatment; therefore, service providers tends to concentrate on them for the implementation of the important treatment strategies (Flippin & Crais, 2011). Due to this reason, the focus on fathers could add to the existing body of knowledge on a father's participation in ASD treatment and can be a catalyst for future studies concerning a father's involvement in APT and treatment. From an application standpoint, this study produced data that may lead to the creation of effective service protocols for increasing a father's involvement by collecting information about critical factors that could help explain the general impact of APT on fathers who have attended APT.

Summary

As the prevalence rates of ASD in Americans have increased from 1–150 in 2000 to 1–68 in 2010 (CDC, 2015), agencies have been seeking means to become more efficient in the type of services offered and are ensuring families' increased involvement in implementing these services. Fathers' involvement has become an important topic in

psychological and behavioral research. The proposed study aimed to gain a deeper understanding of the relationship between APT and fathers' involvement. Some researchers concluded that fathers' participation in autism treatment may help lessen the stress and burden placed on both parents, especially mothers who generally take on the role of primary caregivers (Steiner et al., 2012). The social learning theory formed the theoretical framework of this study; the theory suggests that learning and social behavior are inter-connected variables developed through observation and imitation.

The social learning theory by Bandura (1963) hypothesizes that learning can be produced through direct instruction and without reward or compensation. The number of participants and the number of measures used to collect data could have also been a limitation. However, the FCDC, a closed-ended Likert scale, captured data at three points during the study, before the training, after the training, and 30 days after training, which enhanced the validity of the data. The result of this study could contribute to present research by offering further insight into fathers' involvement, especially with regard to children with autism.

Chapter 2 is focused on the review of literature, parental involvement in APT, parental stress, and fathers' involvement issues. Chapter 3 is an explanation of the methodology that was used for this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

I aimed to identify if there was any relationship between participation in APT and a father's involvement with his children with autism. The results of the study could contribute to the present research by offering further insight regarding a father's involvement. Data gathered through the FCDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014) provide data on the four critical factors that could affect father's involvement with their children after participating in APT. These factors consist of fathers' overall feeling and coping strategies for dealing with stress, fathers' ability to be involved, and fathers' idea about responsibility. These factors could explain the general relationships between fathers' participation APT and their experiences with their children after attending training. The FCDC was used in a recent study conducted by Bloom, 2015. The Cronbach's Alpha for the total score on the FCDCQ for this study was 0.80.

Literature Search Strategies

The literature review identified articles related to fathers' participation in APT. The search strategy was to search all published articles from various websites and books that featured random trials, medical journals, university and independent scholars, and researchers that focused on the questions of parent training, maternal stress, and fathers' involvement. The literature review came mostly from a concerted search of a host of online databases that included the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the U.S. National Library of Medicine online, Cochrane, Walden University Library, and the University of South Carolina Library. Using key words or phrases such as *autism spectrum disorder*, *father involvement, maternal stress,* and *parent training*. I searched online databases that produced a number of references and bibliographies, which allowed the exploration of eligible studies on these topics. PubMed, with a database of tens of millions of articles, provided 45 articles, which was searched with the terms parent training, maternal stress, and fathers' involvement.

A few articles focused on parent training interventions for children with ASD. The review of literature on parent training intervention listed 23 articles that relate to parent training as defined by the proposed study. The primary ideas taken from the review were that parent training is beneficial and that parents were able to implement strategies taught in the training programs. However, Beaudoin and Couture (2014) suggested that parent training findings from a number of studies that related to actual social communication skills development, parents' interaction with their children, or parental wellbeing need further clarity to be conclusive.

In terms of maternal stress, I researched over 53 articles and the overall findings suggested that the implementation of programs designed for children with ASD that include parent training and family support seem to reduce problem behaviors and may contribute to reduce maternal stress. Hewitson et al. (2016) asserted that the development and implementation of autism-specific programs that encompass a number of family supports for parents and children were imperative and critical to reducing maternal stress and improving child developmental outcomes.

The review of literature regarding father involvement revealed articles that focus on a father's involvement as a means to produce positive outcomes for their children's health and their families' well-being. The review of literature relating to fathers' involvement included 30 articles that focus on factors that may increase fathers' level of involvement. Fathers of children with ASD seem to be no less involved than other fathers but because of the difficult task parents undertake when raising a child with ASD, the lack of father's involvement can lead to increase in stress and burden on mothers. Johnson and Simpson (2013) asserted that a father's involvement with children with ASD is paramount to their families' wellbeing. Therefore, health care providers should be aware of how maternal stress and family dynamics affect the functioning of families, especially in terms of a father's involvement in treatment decision-making.

Theoretical Framework

The social learning theory suggests that learning and social behavior are interconnected variables developed through observation and imitation. This theory hypothesizes that learning through direct instruction and without reward or compensation is possible; however, rewards and compensation can be motivators in learning (Bandura, 1963). This theory hypothesizes that observational learning can also occur but providing reinforcement that is ongoing and consistent is important. Similar to the behavioral theories, the social learning theory asserts that learning can be without rewards but places emphasis on the importance of the internal variables in the learning process. Bandura's (1963) social learning theory also suggests that the integration of the observational and internal factors of learning provide a broader narrative of learning. The main hypothesis of the social learning theory is as follows:

- The learning process is not purely observational but also has internal factors integrated in a real-life format.
- 2. The learning process is manifested via behavioral observation and the reinforcement of behaviors.

- The learning process is based on decisions made after observing behaviors.
- 4. The learning process requires reinforcement; however, reinforcement is only a part of the process.

The social learning theory also asserts that one's behavior is determined by environmental factors and in turns affects the environment. Bandura refers to this as the concept of reciprocal determinism (Bandura, 1963). In essence, a person tends to reinforce with others in their environment the behaviors that are reinforced to them. This leads to an increase in interaction between one's environment and one's personal behaviors. Social learning theory suggests that live, verbal, and symbolic modeling plays a major role in learning (Bandura, 1963). Bandura asserted that observation and modeling produce cognitive and behavioral responses that include the ability to be attentive to instruction, retaining the information being taught, reproducing that information, and having the motivation to learn, which are the key elements for social learning (Bandura, 1977).

Literature Review Related to Variables and Key Concepts

The prevalence rates of ASD among Americans have increased from 1–150 in 2000 to 1–68 in 2010 and 1–59 in 2018 (CDC, 2018). ASD affects all racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic groups. In terms of gender, ASD affects males almost five times more than females. Globally, Asia, Europe, and North America have similar rates of ASD.

Presently, there is only one diagnostic designation of ASD. In the past, Asperger's syndrome and ASD were considered separate disorders but with the introduction of the latest edition of the manual from the American Psychiatric Association, the Diagnostic

and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), there are no distinctions or subcategories listed (National Institute of Mental Health, 2016). According to the CDC, ASD is considered a developmental disability with no known cause. It affects the brain primarily, which causes differences in the way most people with ASD behave and, in some cases, there is a genetic link. It is important to note that parents of children with an ASD report developmental issues within 12 months after birth and the vast majority report development issues when the child is around 2 years old. The DSM-5 seeks information in two distinct areas: communication and social interactions and usual interest and repetitive behaviors.

In terms of communication and social interactions, persons with ASD exhibit a spectrum of language skills. Most people with ASD have verbal language skills but nearly exhibit no speech at all. Socially, a person with an ASD does not tend to seek social interactions or have an understanding of social relationships. Moreover, people with ASD tend to have difficulty displaying feelings or clearly interpreting the feelings of others, which are important attributes in making friendships.

According to the CDC (2015), people with ASD have unusual interests, which could appear odd or weird to others. Some people with ASD might be interested in things such as traffic lights, drainpipes, collecting sticks or rocks, with no clear intentions behind the action. Repetitive behaviors such as body motions may include hand-flapping, body rocking, turning a light on and off repeatedly, or spinning in circles. These types of behaviors are termed as self-stimulation or stereotypical behaviors. Repetition in daily routines is essential for most people with ASD and making transitions can cause behavioral outbursts and meltdowns. Finally, people with ASD suffer from sensory processing issues regarding responses to touch, smell, sounds, sights, taste, and sensation; therefore, some people with ASD may have a high tolerance for pain while others may avoid being touched.

The CDC (2016) suggested that early diagnosis and intervention is crucial to improve the developmental outcomes for persons suffering from ASD. Once a diagnosis of ASD has been made and early interventions are in place, it is imperative that parents are trained regarding the causation and behavioral characteristics of ASD so they can understand and implement behavioral strategies (CDC, 2017).

The review of literature clarifies the importance of training for parents of children with ASD as a part of early intervention services. Mothers usually take on the bulk of the tasks relating to the implementation of ASD treatment strategies and that fathers need to be more involved in ASD treatment. Bagner (2013) asserted that traditional studies on parent training fail to include fathers' involvement. However, parents can provide more consistent treatment interventions for their children than service providers, as parents spend more time, overall, with their children (Steiner et al., 2012). Parental involvement can have a positive effect on autistic children, especially if it occurs during early years of development (Schultz, 2013). For example, some autistic toddlers demonstrated a significant improvement in communication skills after an intensive intervention by parents than after treatment by clinicians (Wetherby et al., 2014). Even though for years researchers have concluded that parent intervention can benefit autism treatment (Schultz, 2013), only recently the first randomized controlled trial study was conducted. Schults assessed the concept of group training for parents and found that parents can learn concepts of intervention and that they can implement these interventions with their

children (Hardan et al., 2014). A review of 17) studies from several countries (USA, UK, Australia, Canada, Thailand, and China) found that parent-mediated interventions should be prioritized when developing intervention programs (Oono et al., 2013). Emory Health Sciences (2015) also found that providing parents behavioral strategy training assists them with managing serious behavioral problems better and that the benefit of parentmediated intervention might continue to be evident months after the intervention. Frank et al. (2015) explored the outcomes of parenting programs that implemented processes to encourage father engagement. A marked difference was observed in the means in which parents communicate, with fathers tending to use more humor when engaging with others and mothers sharing more feelings when presenting to the group. The finding concluded that the parent's participation in the session might benefit from being trained simultaneously. The University Of North Carolina School Of Medicine (2015) concluded that families with a 1-year-old child at risk for ASD, who were trained in the home-based intervention called Adapted Responsive Teaching (ART), seemed to produce a better outcome than the families referred to early intervention and monitoring.

Bearss et al. (2015) asserted that parent training could be used to address a number of autism treatment interventions from treatments for language to treatment to deal with aberrant behaviors. Results from a study regarding parent training when used as a treatment demonstrated a significant decrease in aberrant behaviors in children with ASDdisruptive, explosive, and noncompliant behaviors (Bearss et al., 2013). Steiner et al. (2012) suggested that parents' participation in autism training is an essential part of most comprehensive behavioral intervention programs. Steiner et al. also concluded that fathers' participation in autism treatment might help lessen the stress and burden placed on mothers who generally take on the role of primary caregivers.

A recent study regarding fathers' participation in autism parent training concluded that mothers from families with involved fathers felt that father involvement in training improved child behavior problems, as compared to those with uninvolved fathers and absent fathers (Bagner, 2013). In further support of parent training, Estes et al. (2015) discussed the long-term outcomes of children who received early intensive autism intervention. They found that improvement of intellectual ability and reduction in autism symptoms remained consistent over several years. The treatment involved therapists and fathers working together in the homes with the child for several hours weekly. The findings from this study revealed that the child and family variables significantly predicted family involvement and the parent–teacher relationship. The findings on child factors indicated that parents of children with higher developmental risk reported less family involvement and poorer relationships with their child's teacher.

The findings from a recent study of parents with at-risk children found that parent training can be used to improve behavioral issues, but it also suggested that further research was required to render the results conclusive (Barlow et al., 2016). Furlong et al. (2012) found that group-based parenting interventions were a means for agencies to provide cost-effective interventions that can remedy children's behaviors and improve parents' mental well-being. A research involving 48 different studies with 4937 participants concluded that group-based parent training reduces parents' level of depression and suggested that such programs should be used to improve parents' mental health (Barlow et al., 2014). Murphy and Zlomke (2016) concluded that parent-mediated

behavioral intervention was also used to facilitate outpatient children suffering from avoidant/restrictive food intake disorder. After the parents received parent training, their children were successful in avoiding negative mealtime behaviors.

Researchers suggested that parent training for those taking care of children with ASD could reduce service cost. Such trainings may be conducted in a number of settings, and they tend to focus on parent-mediated interventions (Bearss et al., 2015). However, in a country such as Tanzania, service disparities, in terms of treating those with ASD, are appalling, but parents have learned to provide parent–mediated interventions to assist in combating aberrant behaviors (Harrison et al., 2016). Scourfield and Nasiruddin (2015) found that mixing parent training with religious values could enhance fathers' participation in parent training. They also observed that the needs of some British Muslims to incorporate religion into intervention programs might present a viable means to increase fathers' involvement in parent training.

Reduction of Maternal Stress

Steiner et al. (2012) suggested that parents' participation in training is imperative, as in most comprehensive intervention programs, parents may suffer from mental healthrelated issues because of their high level of stress and that the researcher needs to more appropriately address these issues; family dynamics should be considered when developing a parent education program. Steiner et al. also asserted that fathers' participation in autism treatment might help lessen the stress and burden placed on mothers. Dabrowska and Pisula (2010) stated that mothers tend to be the primary caregivers of children with developmental disabilities; hence, fathers may not deal with high-level stress in comparison to mothers. Bluth et al. (2013) indicated that fathers of children with ASD may suffer from an increased level of stress if co-parenting is practiced with a partner who suffers from a high level of stress or has other mental health issues. Schaidle and Burnson (2013) assessed mothers and fathers' self-reporting of parental attributions, parenting burden, and child behavior problems. Couples reported on the level of severity of their children's autism symptoms. Fathers were more likely to attribute the behavior problems of their child/adolescent with an ASD to internal and controllable behaviors that may not necessarily be associated with their autism.

Mothers were more likely to attribute their children's behaviors to less internal factors than the fathers. Mothers tended to feel that most of their children's behaviors were controllable, which may suggest why mothers tend to be more involved in the treatment or they feel that there are interventions for controlling their child's behaviors. Laxman (2015) conducted research on 50 children with ASD and found that the mothers of these children reported less depressive symptoms when the fathers were more willing to participate in caregiving activities. Jones et al. (2013) suggested that further studies are required to help explain these gender differences in terms of levels of stress in order to find an intervention that addresses the mental health of parents caring for children with autism. However, a comparison of the stress index of mothers and fathers raising children with ASD found that mothers had significantly more stress than fathers (Soltanifar et al., 2015). These findings indicated that the mental state of parents with ASD children must be considered in the development of effective treatment strategies for their children. In further support of this, Jones et al. assessed a multilevel modeling approach that addressed the need for service providers to become aware of potentially elevated distress

profiles in mothers and the need to create clinical interventions that target improving maternal well-being and reducing psychological distress.

Researchers using early and intensive behavioral intervention (EIBI) have shown that both parents tend to express elevated stress levels at the beginning of the study, but only the mothers reported a lowering of stress after one year of treatment (Eikeseth et al., 2015). Tellegen and Sanders (2014) conducted a study that evaluated the effectiveness of stress reduction in parents with children suffering from ASD. Primary Care Stepping Stones Triple P, a behavioral intervention that allows parents to work on aberrant behavioral issues and social communication skills, was found to be effective in improving short-term parental stress. Dyadic coping strategies, which is a process of showing a sense of understanding for the experience of a spouse, was found to be a means to help families adjust to issues relating to chronic behavioral issues (Gouin et al., 2016). From a different cultural perspective, for instance, Asian, researchers asserted that parental involvement must be structured to ensure learning through hands-on experiences that create an environment which reinforce an optimistic thinking, so that skills learned can be transferred and adapted in their homes and so on (Chong & Kua, 2017). Kasari et al. (2015), who compared the effects of two parent-mediated interventions on joint engagement for toddlers with ASD, found that such interventions might be successful in reducing parental stress levels.

Maternal parental stress can be the result of many factors. Issues related to learning of her child's diagnosis with ASD, consistently dealing with crises, and being expected to implement interventions to her young child, as well as time lost from work, and increased medical costs associated with caring for a child with ASD can create additional stress (Cidav et al., 2012). Economic issues may also exacerbate a mother's level of stress. A recent study highlighted that raising a child can cause financial hardships, especially for mothers, who work fewer hours and are paid less money. Moreover, the stress of dealing with the ASD diagnostic process can be an added burden for mothers, especially depending on the time that elapses between the first suspicion of ASD and the actual time when a diagnosis is received (Reed et al., 2016). Petrongolo (2014) further added that maternal post-traumatic stress was linked to raising children with ASD, and service providers should be cognizant of the associated higher stress levels that mothers may suffer from when caring for an autistic child.

Father's Involvement

I examined if factors related to the involvement of fathers of children with ASD change across time as a function of participation in APT. Researchers suggest that there may be several concerns that affect a father's abilities to raise a child with special needs and that there are limited community-based resources available to address these issues (Waldman et al., 2013). Roubinov et al. (2016) highlighted fathers' involvement in Mexican-origin families by measuring it (paternal engagement, accessibility, and responsibility) and found that Mexican-origin fathers' involvement was aligned with previous literature based on other ethnic groups. Frank et al. (2015) explored the outcomes of parenting programs that implemented processes to encourage fathers' engagement. A randomized control trial was conducted with a number of families with typically developing children aged between 3 to 8 years who exhibited behavioral issues. Recently, the relationship between father involvement relating to children with attention deficit hyperactivity deficit (ADHD) symptoms – and those who exhibited conduct

problems– was found to have a positive association with these children's behavior problems (Romirowsky & Chronis-Tuscano, 2014). These findings highlight the need for the father to be more willing to engage as a service provider in order to become more involved in his children's treatment.

Wetherby et al. (2014) found that toddlers diagnosed with autism demonstrated significant improvement after intensive intervention with fathers rather than clinicians, after the fathers were taught to be more involved in their child's learning. Semi-structured interviews with 28 fathers of children with (ASD indicated that fathers tend to prefer recreation-based support activities with their children and felt that support from other fathers who have been trained would be a means to increase fathers' involvement (Shave & Lashewicz, 2015). A systematic review of literature for the past 30 years found only three studies that reported that fathers participated in parent training (Elder et al., 2005; Rocha et al., 2007; Symon, 2005). These studies all identified the involvement of fathers in parent training for children with ASD (Flippin & Crais, 2011).

Consequently, a study regarding fathers' participation in autism parent training concluded that mothers from families with involved families felt that fathers' involvement improved child behavior problems (Bagner, 2013). Offering wide contrast, a recent study indicated that fathers of children suffering from life-threatening illnesses assume the primary personal caretaker roles for their children (Wolff et al., 2011). Moreover, fathers tended to be more willing to participate in caregiving when they were aware of the mother's state of depression or when the mother was less willing to be involved when the couples experienced marital problems. A recent study from China concluded that there was consistent deficit in fathers' involvement in families raising

children with ASD and that parental stress and fathers' involvement needed to be addressed to increase positive outcomes for their children (Hu et al., 2017). Allgood et al. (2012) studied father's involvement in the examination of their daughters' three emotional areas -self-esteem, life satisfaction, and psychological distress - and asserted that there were statistically significant relationships between engagement and accessibility and the daughters' self-esteem and life satisfaction. The study used a multiple regression which indicated that better psychological well-being and co-parenting relationship quality and lower conviction rates since the birth of the child were significantly associated with higher levels of paternal involvement. Estes et al. (2015) discussed the long-term outcomes of children who received early intensive autism intervention. They found that the improvement of intellectual ability and reduction in autism symptoms remained consistent over a number of years. The treatment involved therapists and fathers working together at home with the child for several hours weekly to ensure paternal involvement when controlling for statistically relevant sociodemographic variables. Coates and Phares (2014) stated that the positive attribute of fathers, especially those from lower social economic environment, should be the focus of research in the area of father involvement. Lindberg et al. (2017) found that father involvement appears to be negatively associated with children whose fathers had not planned for them or for those who were the result of unintended pregnancies.

Another example of the role of fathers was Ali and Dean's (2015) study which concluded those fathers' interventions, non-resident fathers, could be used to reduce cigarette smoking in adolescents. The study also indicated that fathers' involvement could establish supportive relations with the children (Murphey et al., 2014; SolomonFears, 2014). Fathers' involvement in caregiving may shield their children from the exhibition of aberrant behaviors and may make a child more confident when interacting with their peers (Jia et al., 2012). Father's involvement does not seem to make a positive impact on children or families' processes in the case of cohabit-fathers, i.e., who live with the mothers but are not legally married. Children from cohabiting families reported cruel treatment by their fathers, which, researchers suggest might lead to the troubling behaviors associated with children living in these kind of family environments (Bachman et al., 2012). Nevertheless, when fathers involved prior to a child's birth, it is more likely that they will be involved post-birth and will usually create a positive relationship with the mothers of their children (Mallette et al., 2015). In the same vein, fathers' attachment with their children was found to be related to fathers' ability to spend quality time with their children, especially in their early childhood. The father-child attachment seems to sustain over the years (Brown et al., 2012).

The review of literature emerged to be consistent in terms of the benefit of the father's involvement in the child's early childhood. Early intervention is an important aspect in the treatment of autism. To get the father involved as early as possible is imperative for of training and treatment. A recent study suggested that fathers' sensitivity in parenting while a child is still a toddler may contribute to the development of a child's early executive functioning (EF) at 36 months (Towe-Goodman et al., 2014). Meuwissen and Englund (2016) suggested that fathers' involvement in the development of EF can have lasting effects that continue until third grade or age eight and that there must be a concerted effort to get fathers involved in intervention programs for at-risk youth. Such studies support the claim that fathers' involvement is extremely important for children
with ASD, as children with ASD may suffer from impaired executive functioning (Craig et al., 2016).

The study assessed the impact of fathers' participation in APT with respect to factors related to involvement with their children. A study that examined 199 publications investigating the presence of the father in parenting intervention programs found that most of these programs focused mostly on mother-child interactions and left out fathers' involvement. One of the barriers to fathers' involvement was that intervention programs are developed and administrated (Panter-Brick et al., 2014). Tully et al. (2017) asserted that only one out of six fathers actually participated in intervention programs dealing with children with high-level externalizing problems. Tully et al. (2017) that help-seeking attitudes may have been a barrier to fathers' participation. In a similar vein, researchers studying fathers' participation in pediatric research asserted that limited fathers' involvement in research may be the cause for researchers focusing primarily on mothers and simply overlooking the recruitment of fathers in their research (Davison et al., 2017). A study that explored research on childhood obesity offered similar conclusions. The research found that fathers represented only 6% of the parents in such studies while fathers' involvement was broadly limited in all the studies in this area (Morgan et al., 2017).

The following studies focused on father involvement as it is related to participation in APT. Lamb et al. (1985) defined father's involvement as consisting of engagement, i.e., of a fathers' direct interaction with their children, accessibility, that is, fathers making themselves available to their children, and responsibility, that is, fathers ensuring the care of their children by providing resources. The study explored father involvement as it relates to APT via the construct defined above. Furthermore, this review of literature discusses the overall research on father involvement. However, a further review of literature relating to the constructs of engagement, accessibility, and responsibility has been conducted to provide a rigorous discussion of these constructs individually.

Engagement

Lamb et al. (1985) suggested that interaction/engagement implies the father spending quality time with his children, preferably participating in individualized interactions. In terms of engagement, researchers gathered information relating to father engagement from an analysis of the literature, which found that father engagement strategies can assist in preventing domestic violence when the father becomes increasingly involved in family activities (Pfitzner et al., 2017). The review of the literature indicated that fathers who live with their children tend to be more engaged in their lives but other factors such as education and race may also play a part in father's engagement (Jones & Mosher, 2015). Fagan and Cabrera (2012) suggested that the earlier a father becomes engaged in the lives of his children, the better the relationship can be between parents who are co-parenting. Fathers' engagement was found to have a lasting effect on children with school-based emotional-behavioral issues. The researchers assert that fathers' engagement had a positive influence on internalizing behavior scores of their children suffering emotional-behavioral issues at school (Bernard et al., 2015). A study conducted in the United Kingdom showed that fathers' engagement within the first year of the child's life, usually around the age of nine months, has lasting effects on the imaginative play at 60 months and may be instrumental in reducing future behavioral

issues. Furthermore, an association was found between fathers' engagement and their children's cognitive development, especially in early childhood. Therefore, researchers suggest that fathers' engagement should be an imperative part of early childhood programs and initiatives (Sethna et al., 2017). Moreover, Zvara et al. (2013) stated that fathers' involvement in their children's health care is closely associated with whether or not the father is engaged in treatment planning and if their children's mother is more willing to have the father participate in their children's medical care. However, Frye (2015) suggested that a number of issues may prevent fathers from being more engaged. Fathers reported barriers that ranged from economic issues to just not having sufficient time. Furthermore, fathers also reported feeling a sense of grief and loss after becoming aware of their child's ASD diagnosis. Pleck (2012) asserted that a major strength of the engagement construct is that it provides a measure of fathers' actual interaction with their children.

Accessibility

When defining accessibility, Lamb et al. (1987) insisted that accessibility involves fathers making them-selves available to their children from a physical and psychological perspective. Research on fathers' accessibility is extremely limited. However, a recent review of literature produced a significant study by Shannon et al. (2009), which discussed data received from 2,160 mothers from diverse backgrounds (European American, African American, and Latin American) regarding fathers' accessibility and asserted that fathers who are accessible before the birth of their children were more accessible on a regular basis during the formative years of their children's lives. Furthermore, fathers' accessibility has been positively correlated with the irregular temperament of their children, especially when considering the time fathers are accessible when not at work (Brown et al., 2011). The accessibility of non-residential fathers was found to be mediated by whether or not mothers were involved in another intimate relationship. This suggests that mothers' intimate relationship patterns affect fathers' accessibility to their children (Kotila & Dush, 2012). Similarly, Aliol et al. (2013) reported that mothers identify accessibility to fathers as one of the ideals associated with fathers' involvement in the process of consistency in breastfeeding after birth. The first State of the World's Fathers report (2015) suggested that fathers' roles are changing and that fathers want to be more accessible to their children. Another recent research found that 50% of fathers feel that they need to have more quality interactions with their children (Feki et al., 2017).

Responsibility

Lamb et al. (1987) defined responsibility as fathers taking on the responsibility of the care of their children. This may include fathers also taking responsibility of the mothers' overall well-being. Unfortunately, fathers face difficulties becoming fully responsible for their children. Recent research indicated that a number of factors prevent fathers from taking a responsive role in their childrens lives. Zaveri et al. (2015) suggested that these obstacles could be issues related to a number of factors that can range from financial concerns to mental health issues and that almost 10% of children in the United States live in a home without fathers who assume responsibility. Moreover, the researcher mentioned that even low-income fathers who live outside of their children's residence are becoming more responsive to the needs of their children (Edin & Nelson, 2013).Fathers who participate in daily household duties, which include the responsibilities involving their children's daily life, tend to build better communication systems with their wives (University of Missouri-Columbia, 2013). In the same vein, recent research has concluded that fathers must be more than just present in the household and that they must develop a strong and solid relationship with their children. The study further asserted that the father-child relationship may depend on a father's depressive state of mind and that social service providers should take the whole family in consideration when creating child development plans instead of focusing on mothers and children only. Burrell et al. (2017) studied the experiences of fathers who have children with ASD; they reported that fathers feel the need to be an advocate for their children and ensure that they received appropriate treatment. Moreover, a recent study asserted that even though fathers are taking on more child-rearing responsibilities, the majority of research on ASD continues to deal with the experiences of mothers (Cheuk & Lashewicz, 2016). Pleck (2012) suggested that the responsibility construct might be the most beneficial to the mother, as the more responsibility the father takes on, the less stress or depression a mother may experience.

The review of literature produced no studies that discuss father's involvement and ASD using the construct described by Lamb et al. (1985). This renders the proposed study unique in its design, as it can be beneficial to filling a gap in the literature regarding fathering and autism.

Fathers' Strategies for Coping With Stress

In response to the lack of research that examines the perception of fatherhood strategies for coping with stress, Dardas and Ahmad (2013b) conducted a study on the effects of coping strategies of fathers of children with ASD on their quality of life (QoL).

The study suggested that QoL of the fathers must be taken into account when creating treatment plans for children with ASD. In a later study, designing the care plans for their children. The study examined the factors that may predict QoL, such as household income, the age of the child with ASD, and whether there were other children in the home affected by ASD. However, none of the coping strategies were found to reduce fathers' stress–QoL among the 101 participating fathers. In an extremely significant study, researchers investigated how fathers of children with developmental disabilities coped with stress via sense of coherence (SOC). The research concluded that a relationship exists between the type of child's developmental disability and SOC in fathers. The results of the study clearly indicate that raising a child with a disability may lower a father's SOC, causing problems in coping with stress (Dabrowska, 2008). It was also found that parents of children with ASD tend to have issues with social diversion coping and emotion-oriented coping. The finding concludes that fathers who have children with ASD are unable to cope with stress (A., D., & E., P., 2010). A recent research conducted among first-time expectant fathers suggested that when the level of stress increases, coping strategies tend to decrease (Devi, 2016).

Fathers and Stress

With regard to fathers and stress, a recent study by May et al. (2015) showed that the quality of co-parenting has an effect on the stress level in fathers of children with ASD. The findings assert that co-parenting quality is clearly correlated with parenting stress in fathers of children with an ASD and that the quality mediates fathers' stress. Moreover, researchers have found a limited association of fathers' warmth and stress on child behavior problems. The study suggests that enhancing fathers' warmth may reduce their level of stress, creating more positive outcomes for children with ASD. Moreover, the father-child relationship and the reduction in parenting stress may lead to positive outcomes for the children (Lee et al., 2017). Likewise, Knoester and Petts (2017) also found that father identity is a factor in paternal stress. The study showed that fathers develop a concrete role as a parent, which, in turn, may lead to more family interactions and a reduction in fathers' stress level. Another recent study examined fathers' parenting stress regarding their children in early childhood and found that fathers' parenting-related stress was associated with children's cognitive scores. Fathers with children who had lower cognitive scores tended to be more stressed. The study also suggested that fathers are more involved in the implementation of early childhood interventions (Hardwood et al., 2017)

Summary

Associations between fathers' involvement and child adjustment are definitive. There is overwhelming evidence of the overall benefit of parent training that supports father's involvement as being critical in a child's overall development. In terms of ASD, it is clear that fathers must be more involved in caregiving because of the preponderance of the literature asserting that mothers are over stressed, as they deal with the majority of the aberrant behaviors exhibited by children with ASD. Furthermore, it has been clearly established in the review of the literature that parent mediated intervention may provide parents with the techniques required to address problematic behaviors. The ability to apply these techniques at home with the assistance of a professional may correlate with a reduction of stress for the mother, especially when mothers are in a supportive coparenting relationship. According to the literature review, parent training can also be a cost-effective means to treat ASD.

The review of literature highlighted the benefit of parent training on father involvement; however, no study clearly defined the effect of APT on father involvement in terms of level of fathers' stress, coping strategies, their ideas about father involvement, and their ideas about responsibility. In this regard, the present study fills a gap in the literature and provides new information regarding father involvement. Chapter 3 will present the proposed methodology for this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The goal of the study was to identify the relationship between APT participation and factors related to fathers' involvement with their children with autism. The result of this study may offer further insight regarding training experiences that may increase fathers' involvement with their children by reducing stress and other possible barriers to involvement. The theoretical foundation for this study was the social learning theory by Bandura (1966). This theory describes learning processes by which individuals can develop social behavior patterns and would apply to parenting style. Data collected from close-ended questionnaire, the FCDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014), provided information on the four critical factors that could affect fathers' involvement with their children: feeling of stress, coping strategies for stress, ideas about responsibility, and the ability to be involved. The design of this study consisted of the assessment of the experience of fathers at three points: prior to the beginning of APT, immediately following completion, and 30 days after completion. One-way ANOVAs with repeated measures evaluated change across the three points of measurement for each of the dependent variables.

Research Design and Rationale

I observed fathers of children with ASD who attended the APT on parenting in order to investigate possible changes across time related to their attendance. The training groups of fathers testing occurred just prior to beginning the parent training, at the end of the training period, and 30 days after to assess whether the training had an effect on the dependent variables of interest, which included fathers' overall feeling of stress, fathers' coping strategies for stress, fathers' ideas about responsibility, and fathers' ability to be involved.

I had the choice to adapt the post-positivism worldwide philosophical view as it supports the quantitative research design employed in the study. According to Gratton and Jones (2010), postpositivism posits that proper understanding cannot be attained merely through measurement. Conversely, the use of traditional evaluation criteria, such as internal validity, statistical analysis, and computer-assisted methods of analysis, can aid in producing a certain level of confidence in the research results. This study was designed to provide a quantitative description of the relationships of the fathers in the study and their children with autism to fill a gap in the literature.

This study answered the research questions using a quantitative approach with a quasi-experimental design that explores the possible effects of the parent training experience on relationships between variables using statistical analyses documented with questionnaire instruments such as the FCDC (Ly & Goldberg, 2014).

Methodology

Mouton (2001) reviewed his research methodology as a means to focus on the research process and the kinds of tools and procedures that should be used in the collection and analysis of data. A well-established questionnaire was used as the research tool, which required the researcher to elicit information from the respondents. This process provided an insight into the relationship between fathers' involvement and APT. Scott and Usher (2011) asserted that while using the questionnaire method, the researcher should focus on participants who are similarly related. I used repeated measures with a convenience sampling of a target population of fathers who attended APT in a region of

the southeastern U.S. The researcher uses a separate one-way ANOVA for repeated measures for each of the dependent variables.

A priori power analysis was conducted using the software package G*Power (Faul & Erdfelder, 1992) to identify the minimum sample size. Each test of a research hypothesis involved a separate one-way ANOVA with repeated measures, with time as the independent variable and three points of measurement. With planning for assessment of within-subject changes across three points of measurement with a power of .95, alpha = .05, moderate effect size f = .25, two groups for the between-group comparison, one repeated measurements, correlation among repeated measures = .5, and nonsphericity correction = 1, the minimum total minimum sample size for analyses would be 43. Given the risk of participants dropping out prematurely or simply not completing the assessments, the planned minimum sample size was increased to 50.

Population and Sampling

Population

APTs are conducted across many sites within a services system in a state in the southeast U.S. At this time, there are approximately 3,000 families of children with ASD who receive services through this system. Of these, approximately 80% include fathers who are potential caretakers of the children. At any given time, there may be 11 sites that conduct APT training. Participation is voluntary.

Sampling

Because I am employed by the DDSN service system, the focus was in recruiting fathers who were not familiar with him, either by direct or indirect association. Eligible

participants were in-home or nonresidential fathers whose children have been determined eligible for state services for autism and reside in the region.

The trainings were scheduled to be held at 11 county Disability Boards. Members of the boards assisted the researcher in distributing information about the study. The plan was to send out research recruitment flyers to fathers eligible for this study in the 11 Disabilities Boards in the regions and particularly to case-managers of families with children living with ASD. This invited fathers to participate in the study on the experiences of fathers of children with ASD. They were also asked if they were planning to attend the next APT session. As it was not appropriate for the researcher to assign fathers to treatment, they had to rely on finding groups of fathers, some of whom planned to attend APT and some who would not by their own choice, to become the research participants. All volunteers for the study were informed that they would be asked to complete a questionnaire three times: at the beginning of the training, after the training, and 4 weeks later. Completion of all three times was emphasized as an important part of the study. Fathers were also given a return stamped envelope. I intended to follow up with the fathers in order to encourage them to return the responses to the questionnaire within a week, after the 30-day period.

I aimed to investigate the following questions:

RQ1: Are there changes in a father's stress because of participation in APT?

 H_01 : A father's stress, as measured by the stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 1: A father's stress, as measured by the stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

RQ2: Are there changes in a father's coping strategies for stress because of his participation in APT?

 H_02 : A father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 2: A father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

RQ3: Are there changes in a father's ideas about responsibility because of his participation in APT?

 H_0 3: A father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 3: A father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

RQ4: Are there changes in a father's ability to be involved because of his participation in APT?

 H_0 4: A father's ability to be involved, as measured by the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT.

 H_a 4: A father's ability to be involved, as measured by the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does change because of his participation in APT.

The Independent Variable

APT is a 1-day training class that provides information about how to set up programming for social and communication skills, makes participants practice using teaching techniques that work, and structures an approach for managing behavior challenges.

APT is designed to review the characteristics of autism and provide an overview of treatment strategies that are considered best practices. The purpose of the APT workshop is to describe the support that parents can demonstrate and apply effectively. This includes teaching strategies that relate to reinforcement, prompting, communication, and social intentions. The focus was to introduce antecedent strategies and positive behavior reduction strategies that can be implemented with simple environmental changes and low cost/no cost adaptations. The training is conducted by Autism Division staff and is three hours long. It is taught via PowerPoint and includes several activities.

Instrumentation

The FDCD is a 20-item measure yielding two subscales: (a) impact on parenting and (b) involvement with child intervention. The scale was developed to not only assess fathers' perceptions of father involvement as conceptualized by Lambs et al. (1985) but also to measure the level of stress and other challenges faced by fathers when they are involved with their children. All items in the FCDC were worded to address the real challenges of parenting a child with developmental issues. The highest score indicates that fathers experienced greater support in being involved with their child. Each item was presented with a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*Strongly Agree*) to 5 (*Strongly Disagree*), with higher scores indicating less impact on parenting. Analyses indicated that the FCDC is reliable ($\alpha = 0.89$), as did each of the two sub scales ($\alpha > 0.85$), which demonstrates content validity, construct validity and acts in theoretically expected ways. The measure has been found to offer adequate internal reliability. The overall scale was reported to demonstrate content and construct validity, supported by theoretical assumptions (Ly & Goldberg, 2014). When specific subscales of the FCDC and PSI were compared, the FCDC 'impact on parenting' subscale was found to be significantly associated with each one of the PSI subscales in both the child and parent domains (rvalues ranging from -0.32 to -0.64).

Data Analysis

SPSS version 23 was used to analyze the data to test each of the research hypotheses by conducting a one-way ANOVA with repeated measures. The three repeated measures were conducted before and after APT training, then 30 days after the training. The dependent variables were the scale scores for each of the research hypotheses.

Prior to performing the one-way ANOVA with repeated measures, data were checked to ensure the required minimum amount of useable data to achieve planned power of analyses was available. Data were cleaned and screened (examined for data entry errors, missing values, outliers, with adjustments made, as needed), and the dependent variables were examined to ensure that they met the assumptions for use of the ANOVA (i.e., continuous measures, normally distributed, with homogeneity of variances across experimental groups). If any dependent measures did not meet the normality assumption, even after transformations, nonparametric statistical analyses were used appropriately. Demographic characteristics of the sample were also computed and summarized for the final report.

Threats to Validity

There were several types of threats to the validity that could have interfered with the ability of the researcher to draw inferences from the data collected in the study. These threats included internal validity threats, external validity threats, conclusion validity threats, and construct validity threats. Even through the researcher planned to recruit more participants than required by the power analysis, the study posed a risk in being able to access an adequate number of fathers, as it relied on one form of data from one source, that is, the CDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014). Threats can consist of having too much variation in data or outliers in data, having the wrong selection of samples, or using inaccurate measurement methods for analysis (Brinkman et al., 2009). According to Creswell (2003), ignoring such threats may lead to inaccurate results and an invalid study.

Minimizing Threats to Internal Validity

Testing

The use of a research design that does include a pretest may convey knowledge to the participants. This particular threat can either overstate or understate the program effect. Therefore, I was on the lookout for such a threat and intended to report any findings in this regard.

Attrition

I aimed to recruit as many participants as possible to avoid the threat of attrition and ensure quality of the statistical analyses. I eliminated most instrumentation threats by maintaining control of the measurement procedures using a well-established instrument and following a data collection procedure outlined earlier.

Minimizing Threats to External Validity

Selection Bias

I planned to recruit fathers whose children have autism and who live in a region of the southeastern U.S. This would not allow the generalization of the study results across populations. All participants were volunteers, regardless of whether or not they chose to attend APT training. I was not aware if the participants differed from those who did not choose to be in the study and/or attend APT.

Ethical Procedures

Research involving human participants is subject to a number of ethical concerns. According to the APA (2016), The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research identified the basic ethical principles that should underlie the conduct of biomedical and behavioral research involving human subjects. The commission produces guidelines for the boundaries between biomedical and behavioral research, assessment of risk in research involving human subjects, methods for selecting human subjects for participation in research, and informed consent.

In the study, these concerns were limited, as the questionnaires were conducted confidentially. This eliminated the threat of disclosure of personal information. The organizational resource which the study planned to use required that a local human rights board review any study involving human participants. Furthermore, the resource also required an approved proposal from a University Institutional Review Board (IRB). Walden University IRB was responsible for making the final decisions with regard to what constitutes as research conducted on human subjects and how the human subject protection laws must be implemented. According to Walden University (2017), the University's IRB follows the guidelines of the Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects. An application was submitted and approved (10-15-20-0232396) by Walden University IRB to conduct this study. All information relating to the participants and the result of the study was held in confidentiality, and all the collected data was housed at the researcher's office in a locked file cabinet. Study related information will be kept for 10 years, and after being reviewed by the SC-DDSN research and human right committee, the study-related information would be shredded.

Role of the Researcher

As an employee of AD, I conduct autism-specific training and behavioral consultation throughout the coastal region. To ensure that there was no impact to the collection of the data or any potential bias, I only recruited fathers unfamiliar to them for study and allowed colleagues to conduct the APT. This ensured the separation of work duties and research protocols, limiting any concerns about bias.

Summary

As the prevalence of ASD in American children has increased over the past decade, many local and state agencies are seeking avenues to become more efficient in the type of training services they offer. One such training is referred to as APT. This quantitative study used a quasi-experimental one-group design to explore possible changes across time related to participation in APT on fathers' self-reported stress, coping strategies for stress, ideas about responsibility, and ability to be involved in parenting their child(ren) with ASD. Participants were recruited from among fathers of children with ASD who signed up for APT. They were asked to complete the CDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014) just prior to the training, at the end of the training, and then again 30 days after the training was completed. It was hypothesized that fathers would show improvement in stress, coping, ideas about responsibility, and their ability to be involved with their children as a function of participation in APT. This study aimed to expand the knowledge regarding the effects of APT as well as provide further information for ongoing development of interventions to enhance parental involvement by fathers of children with ASD.

Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Research Findings

Introduction

The goal of the study was to identify the relationship between APT participation and factors related to fathers' involvement with their children with autism. Fathers' experiences were assessed at three points: prior to the beginning of APT (Time 1), immediately following completion (Time 2), and 30 days after completion (Time 3). A sample 43 fathers (n = 43) was required. However, with the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic, the ability to recruit participant for the study became painstakingly difficult and the required sample size was not attained Only 9 fathers (n-9) was actually participated in all three data points . A One-way ANOVAs with repeated measures were used to assess change across the three points of measurement for each dependent variable and , a paired sample *t* test also was used to test Data Point 1 and 2, which provided a larger sample size of (n = 26), which could have produced the potential for a higher statistic power.

This chapter includes a description of the analysis of data followed by a discussion of the research findings. The findings relate to the research questions that guided the study. Data were analyzed to identify, describe and explore the relationship between paternal parent training and the involvement of father with children ASD. Data were obtained from self- administered questionnaires, completed by 26 fathers (n = 26). This may be because fathers completed the first and second questionnaire at the same day before and after the training session. The third data period was to be complete 30 days later. It was difficult to contact participants during and after the 30 day period, some even reported having Vovid-19 symptoms and covid-19 related issues. There was complete

Time 1, 2, and 3 data for nine participants, so data from Time 1 and Time 2 were also analysis to see if result may be different. However, results from both analyses were the same.

In term of the collection of data, one must take into account that the study was completed during the COVID-19 pandemic. Because the study is based on fathers who have children with special needs. As stated in the proposal, it was extremely important to access father who children were eligible for state funded services in South Carolina, as these children would have a proven diagnosis for ASD. Because of the pandemic many of the community based agencies statewide, who provide service to children with Special Needs, were closed. These agencies were to provide a resource for recruiting fathers. Nonetheless, in South Carolina all state office and facility was closed for several months, more than a thousand people who either work for or depend on the services of the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) had tested positive for COVID-19. Unfortunately, these closure vastly affected my overall study and prevented the researcher from recruiting the full number of participate needed to have a significant affect. I am a DDSN employee and out of a total of 958 DDSN staff members who had been tested, 693 received positive test result. As a result of the enormous health risk associate with virus, recruitment of participant for study created the limitation of only having 9 participants who completed the entire study. However, overall, the study recruited 26 participants who completed Data Points 1 and 2.

Participants

As seen in Table 1, participants' age ranged from 25 to 60 years of age and older. The largest percentage of participants were 45-59 years of age (50%, n = 13) and the majority were Black (73.1%, n = 19). For marital status, the majority identified as "Married Dad to

biological mother" (38.5%, n = 10) or as "Single Dad, never married, full custody" (34.6%, n = 9). In terms of education, 14.8% (n = 4) had a college degree and 40.7% (n = 11) had vocational training. Demographic graphs are located in appendix G.

Table 1

Frequency and Percentages for Participants' Demographic Characteristics

Variable	n	%
Age		
60 years old or older	1	3.8
45–59 years old	13	50.0
35–44 years old	7	26.9
25-34 years old	5	19.2
Total	26	100.0
Race		
Black or African American	19	73.1
White	4	15.4
Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin	3	11.5
Total	26	100.0
Marital Status		
Single Dad, never married, full custody	9	34.6
Single Dad, never married, shared custody	2	7.7
Divorced Dad (separated from biological	3	11.5
mother)		
Widower Dad (mother died)	1	3.8
Married Dad to biological mother	10	38.5
Married Dad to another-mother	1	3.8
Total	26	100.0
Educational Level		
High school	5	22.2
Some high school or GED	6	22.2

Vocational Training (Mechanic, etc.)	11	40.7
College degree	4	14.8
Total	26	100.0

Data Analysis and Assumptions

SPSS version 27 was used to test each of the research hypotheses with one-way repeated measures ANOVAs. There were three repeated measures for each dependent variable as reflected in the research questions and hypotheses. Prior to performing the one-way ANOVA with repeated measures, data were checked to ensure that there is the required minimum amount of useable data for adequate statistical power. Data was cleaned and screened; no data entry errors were found. The dependent variables were assessed for the assumptions of repeated measures ANOVA (i.e., continuous measures, normally distribution, and sphericity).

Level of Measurement

For the first assumption, it is required that the dependent variable be measured at ratio/interval level or continuous. This assumption was met because the dependent variables were continuous.

Normal Distribution

The one-way repeated measures ANOVA is considered "robust" to violations of normality (Kline, 2015). For the assumptions of normality, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and the Shapiro-Wilks test were used. As seen in Table 2, no serious deviations from normality were identified. The variables were appropriate for repeated measures ANOVA.

Table 2

Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk Tests for the Dependent Variables

	Kolmogorov-Sr	Shapiro-Wilk				
Dependent Variables	Statistic	df	р	Statistic	df	p
Time 1: Fathers' Stress	.210	9	.20	.96	9	.81
Time 2: Fathers' Stress	.183	9	.20	.96	9	.81
Time 3: Fathers' Stress	.183	9	.20	.93	9	.57
Time 1: Fathers' Coping	.209	9	.20	.82	9	.03
Strategies						
Time 2: Fathers' Coping	.226	9	.20	.91	9	.34
Strategies						
Time 3: Fathers' Coping	.224	9	.20	.94	9	.59
Strategies						
Time 1: Father's Ideas About	.295	9	.12	.81	9	.03
Responsibility						
Time 2: Father's Ideas About	.199	9	.20	.89	9	.22
Responsibility						
Time 3: Father's Ideas About	.173	9	.20	.97	9	.89
Responsibility						
Time 1: Fathers' Involvement	.295	9	.12	.78	9	.09
Time 2: Fathers' Involvement	.271	9	.06	.84	9	.06
Time 3: Fathers' Involvement	.231	9	.18	.93	9	.483

Assumptions of Sphericity (*e*[^])

The assumption of sphericity refers to the equality of variances of the differences between treatment levels. Statistically significant values with p < .05 indicate this assumption has been violated. The variables of fathers' stress, fathers' coping strategies, father's ideas about responsibility, or fathers' involvement met the assumption of sphericity per Mauchly's test of sphericity, which was run as part of the repeated measures ANOVAs. More specifically, the Mauchly's test of sphericity for fathers' stress, fathers' coping strategies, father's ideas about responsibility, and fathers' involvement were not statistically significant; all were p > .05. As such, no adjustments were made to the data or the data analysis plan.

Assumption of Outliers

A boxplot was used to check the outliers. As seen in Figure 1, there were outliers in the dataset but none of the outliers were extreme or influential. As such, all the cases were retained for the subsequent analysis.

Figure 1



Boxplot for the Dependent Variables

The data were assessed for missing data. As seen in Table 3, nine participants had data for Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3. As such, the study was under-powered.

Table 3

Missing Data Analysis for the Dependent Variables at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3

		Missing Data	ata	
Variable	Ν	Count	%	
Time 1: Fathers' Stress	26	0	.0	
Time 2: Fathers' Stress	26	0	.0	
Time 3: Fathers' Stress	9	17	65.4	
Time 1: Fathers' Coping Strategies	26	0	.0	
Time 2: Fathers' Coping Strategies	26	0	.0	
Time 3: Fathers' Coping Strategies	9	17	65.4	
Time 1: Father's Ideas About	26	0	.0	
Responsibility				
Time 2: Father's Ideas About	26	0	.0	
Responsibility				
Time 3: Father's Ideas About	9	17	65.4	
Responsibility				
Time 1: Fathers' Involvement	26	0	.0	
Time 2: Fathers' Involvement	26	0	.0	
Time 3: Fathers' Involvement	9	17	65.4	

Reliability

The majority of dependent variables had adequate internal consistency and reliability as assessed with Cronbach's alpha. Alphas ranged from .49 to .92 (see Table 4). The reliability for fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 was .42. Removing items from the scale did not improve reliability. As such, the measure of fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 was used in the analysis. However, this is a possible limitation for interpretation of results.

Table 4

Variable	# of items	Alpha
Time 1: Fathers' Stress	12	.92
Time 2: Fathers' Stress	12	.81
Time 3: Fathers' Stress	12	.90
Time 1: Fathers' Coping Strategies	15	.49
Time 2: Fathers' Coping Strategies	15	.82
Time 3: Fathers' Coping Strategies	15	.88
Time 1: Father's Ideas About Responsibility	15	.80
Time 2: Father's Ideas About Responsibility	15	.74
Time 3: Father's Ideas About Responsibility	15	.86
Time 1: Fathers' Involvement	24	.73
Time 2: Fathers' Involvement	24	.76
Time 3: Fathers' Involvement	24	.80

Cronbach's Alpha Values for the Dependent Variables

Descriptive Statistics for the Dependent Variables

The descriptive statistics for Fathers' Stress, fathers' Coping Strategies, Fathers' ideas about Responsibilities, and Fathers' involvement for Time 1, 2 and 3 appear in Table 5.

Table 5

Descriptive Statistics for the Main Van	riables
-----------------------------------------	---------

	N	Minimum	Maximum	М	SD
Time 1: Fathers' Stress	26	1.25	5.00	3.11	0.98
Time 2: Fathers' Stress	26	2.17	4.83	3.13	0.68
Time 3: Fathers' Stress	9	1.50	4.58	2.75	0.92
Time 1: Fathers' Coping Strategies	26	2.40	4.67	3.20	0.51
Time 2: Fathers' Coping Strategies	26	2.00	4.47	3.04	0.56
Time 3: Fathers' Coping Strategies	9	1.93	4.13	3.00	0.61
Time 1: Father's Ideas About Responsibility	26	2.07	4.33	3.10	0.60
Time 2: Father's Ideas About	26	2.3	4.3	3.06	0.48
Responsibility	0	1.00	4.22	2.05	0.71
Responsibility	9	1.80	4.33	3.05	0.71
Time 1: Fathers' Involvement	26	2.65	4.39	3.19	0.41
Time 2: Fathers' Involvement	26	2.65	4.43	3.13	0.42
Time 3: Fathers' Involvement	9	2.61	4.22	3.28	0.46

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1

A repeated measures ANOVA was used to test the hypothesis. Mauchly's test indicated that the sphericity assumption was met (x^2 (2) = 0.79, p = .44). The first repeated measures ANOVA was used to measure the main effect of time on fathers' stress scores. Results showed that there was no statistically significant effect of time on Fathers' Stress, F(2, 7) = 3.06, p = .06 (see Table 6). The differences between fathers' stress scores Time 1, 2, and 3 were not statistically significant. The means for this variable are presented in Figure 2. As such, the null hypothesis that a father's stress, as measured by the stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was rejected.

Table 6

	Stre	ss 1	Stre	ss 2	Stre	ess 3			
Variable	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	df	F	р
Stress	3.11	1.13	3.45	0.88	2.75	0.92	(2, 7)	3.06	.06
(ANOVA)							(_, .)		

Descriptive Statistics and F Statistic for Fathers' Stress Scores

Figure 2

Means for Fathers' Stress Scores at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3



Research Question 2

A repeated measures ANOVA was used for interpreting the main effect of time on fathers' coping strategies for stress. Mauchly's test indicated that the sphericity assumption was met (x^2 (2) = 0.72, p = .32). The means for fathers' coping strategies for stress at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3 are presented in Figure 3. Results indicated a lack of a statistically significant main effect of time on fathers' coping strategies for stress scores, F(2, 7) = 0.94, p = .40 (see Table 7). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.

Table 7

Descriptive Statistics and F Statistic for Fathers' Coping Strategy Scores

	Copi	ing 1	Cop	ing 2	Copi	ing 3			
Variable	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	df	F	р
Coping	3.36	0.56	3.25	0.62	3.00	0.61	(2, 7)	0.94	.40
(ANOVA)									

Figure 3

Means for Fathers' Coping Strategy Scores at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3



Research Question 3

A repeated measures ANOVA was used for interpreting the main effect of time on fathers' idea about responsibility scores for Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3. Mauchly's test indicated that the sphericity assumption was met (x^2 (2) = 0.67, p = .25). The means for father's idea about responsibility for Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3 are presented in Figure 4. Results showed that the main effect of time on fathers' ideas about responsibility was not statistically significant F(2, 7) = 0.36, p = .69 (see Table 8). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.

Table 8

Descriptive Statistics and F Statistic for Fathers' Ideas About Responsibilities Scores

	Ideas About		Ideas About		Ideas	About			
	Responsibilities		Responsibilities		Responsibilities				
	1		2		3				
Variable	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	df	F	р
Ideas About	3.29	0.69	3.25	0.48	3.05	0.71	(2,	0.36	.69
Responsibilities							7)		
(ANOVA)									

Figure 4

Means for Fathers' Ideas About Responsibilities Scores at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3



Research Question 4

A repeated measures ANOVA was used for interpreting the main effect of time on father's ability to be involved. Mauchly's test indicated that the sphericity assumption was violated (x^2 (2) = 0.80, p = .46). The means for fathers' ability to be involved at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3 are presented in Figure 5. Results showed that there was statistically significant effect of time on father's ability to be involved scores, F(2, 7) = 0.09, p = .91 (see Table 9). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's ability to be involved, as measured by the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.

Table 9

	Father's Ability		Father's	Ability	Father's	Ability			
	to be Inv	volved 1	to be Involved 2		to be Involved 3				
Variable	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	df	F	р
Father's Ability to	3.32	0.55	3.38	0.59	3.28	0.46	(2, 7)	0.09	.91
be Involved									
(ANOVA)									

Descriptive Statistics and F Statistic for Fathers' Ability to be Involved Scores

Figure 5

Means for Fathers' Ability to be Involved Scores at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3



Results Summary

Repeated measures ANOVAs were used to test the four research questions and corresponding hypotheses. The dependent variables met the assumptions for level of measurement, normal distribution, lack of influential outliers, and sphericity as required for repeated measures ANOVA. All of the variables had adequate reliability with the exception of fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 ($\alpha = .42$.).

The null hypotheses were not accepted for Research Question 1, Research Question 2, Research Question 3, and Research Question 4. There was no main effect of time for any of the dependent variables as measured at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3. The null hypothesis that a father's stress, as measured by the stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. Finally, the null hypothesis that a father's ability to be involved, as measured by the Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The APT did not lead to any statistically significant changes in fathers' stress, fathers' coping strategies, father's ideas about responsibility, or fathers' involvement.

Paired t Tests Analysis

There were significant problems with the validity of the repeated measures ANOVAs due to the much smaller number of participants who completed the survey at Time 3. Problems exist due to reduced statistical power, but also the possible representativeness of those who remained for the third assessment. Because of these limitations, paired *t*-tests were employed to compare Times 1 and 2 where there were more suitable sample sizes in order to assess the relationship between APT participation and factors related to fathers' involvement with their children with autism.

Data Analysis and Assumptions

Similar to the assessments for the repeated measures ANOVA, data met the assumptions for the paired *t*-tests: continuous level of measurement, normal distribution/outliers, and sphericity. However, the sample size (n = 26) reduced the power of the statistical test.

Assumption of Outliers

A boxplot was used to check the outliers. As seen in Figure 1, there were outliers in the dataset but none of the outliers were extreme or influential. As such, all the cases were retained for the subsequent analysis.

Missingness

The data were assessed for missing data. As the study had only 26 participants had data for Time 1 and Time 2. As such, the study was under-powered.

Reliability

The majority of dependent variables had adequate internal consistency and reliability as assessed with Cronbach's alpha. Alphas ranged from .49 to .92. The reliability for fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 was .42. Removing items from the scale did not improve reliability. As such, the measure of fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 was used in the analysis. However, as noted earlier, this is a possible limitation for interpretation of results.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1

A paired *t* test was used to examine the difference between Time 1 and Time 2 stress scores. The average Time 1 Stress Score was 13.11 (SD = 0.98) and the average Time 2 Stress Score was 3.13 (SD = 0.58) indicating a mean difference of 0.02. However, the difference between the Time 1 and Time 2 stress scores was not statistically significant (t(25) = -0.08, p > .05). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's stress, as measured by the stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.
Research Question 2

A paired *t* test was used to examine the difference between Time 1 and Time 2 coping scores. The average Time 1 Coping Score was 3.20 (SD = 0.51) and the average Time 2 Coping Score was 3.04 (SD = 0.56) indicating a mean difference of 0.16. However, the difference between the Time 1 and Time 2 coping scores was not statistically significant (t(25) = 1.47, p > .05). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.

Research Question 3

A paired *t* test was used to examine the difference between fathers' ideas about responsibility at Time 1 and Time 2. The average Time 1 score for fathers' ideas about responsibility was 3.01 (SD = 0.60) and the average Time 2 score for fathers' ideas about responsibility was 3.06 (SD = 0.48) indicating a mean difference of 0.04. The difference between fathers' ideas about responsibility Time 1 and Time 2 scores was not statistically significant (t(25) = 0.47, p > .05). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.

Research Question 4

A paired *t* test was used to examine the difference between fathers' ability to be involved at Time 1 and Time 2. The average Time 1 score for fathers' ability to be involved was 3.19 (SD = 0.41) and the average Time 2 score for fathers' ability to be involved was 3.13 (SD = 0.42) indicating a mean difference of 0.06. The difference between fathers' ability to be involved at Time 1 and Time 2 was not statistically significant (t(25) = 1.02, p > .05). As such, the null hypothesis that a father's ability to be involved, as measured by the FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted.

Summary

Paired *t* tests were used to test the four research questions and corresponding hypotheses. The dependent variables met the assumptions for level of measurement, normal distribution, lack of influential outliers, and sphericity as required. All of the variables had adequate reliability with the exception of fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 (α = .42.).

The null hypothesis was not rejected for Research Question 1, Research Question 2, Research Question 3, and Research Question 4. There was no main effect of time for any of the dependent variables as measured at Time 1 and Time 2. The null hypothesis that a father's stress, as measured by the stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. the null hypothesis that a father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. Finally, the null hypothesis that a father's ability to be involved, as measured by the FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The APT did not lead to any statistically significant changes in

fathers' stress, fathers' coping strategies, father's ideas about responsibility, or fathers' involvement.

Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions

Introduction

This chapter is a summary of the research findings, discusses the limitations, and reflects the recommendations of the study. I evaluated the effects of APT training on father involvement behavior, as well as affective and attitudinal factors that may be related to involvement behaviors. A repeated measures design was used to evaluate the dependent variables among a group of fathers who attended APT training. In order to evaluate possible change across time, a father was evaluated prior to beginning training, at the end of the training, and 30 days after training has ended. Using the FCDCQ (Ly & Goldberg, 2014) scale, I assessed four critical factors that are rated to fathers' involvement: overall feelings of stress, coping strategies for dealing with stress, ability to be involved with their children, and ideas about being responsible for the care of their children. The goal of the study was to evaluate effects of the training program across these behavioral, affective, and attitudinal components of father involvement.

The review of literature clarified the importance of training for parents of children with ASD as a part of early intervention services. Moreover, the review of literature also suggest that mothers usually take on the bulk of task relating to implementation of ASD treatment strategies and that fathers need to be more involved in ASD treatment. The review of literature suggests that parents can provide more consistent treatment interventions for their children than service providers, as parents spend more time, overall, with their children.

Method of Data Collection

I assessed the research questions through a quantitative approach with a withinsubject (time of assessment) comparison of scores that are reported at different points (pre, post, and post post). I explored differences across time on father's self-reported stress levels, coping ability with stress, sense of responsibility, ability to be involved (FCDDQ; Ly & Goldberg, 2014).

The collection of data was done to all of the subscales three times: just prior to the APT training, at the end of the training, and 30 days after the end of the training. I assessed the research hypotheses by using repeated measures ANOVA to evaluate each of the four research hypotheses. I recruited 26 overall participants; but, only nine completed all three data points. In response to the small sample size over the three data points, a Paired *t* test was conduct with the 26 participant that completed data point one and two. Nonetheless, the study was conducted in amidst of the Covid-19 pandemic and had to be modified. If the study was carried out in its original format and was able to recruit the recommended sample size of 43 (n = 43), it may have provided a more of an in-depth insight into the experiences of fathers and may have provided further knowledge about specific benefits of APT in affect a father's involvement with his child(ren) with ASD.

Finding

The literature review provides overwhelming evidence of the overall benefit of parent training and how father's involvement is critical in a child's overall development.

In terms of ASD, it is clear that fathers must be more involved in caregiving because of the preponderance of the literature asserting that mothers are over stressed, as they deal with the majority of the aberrant behaviors exhibited by children with ASD. Furthermore, it has been established in the review of the literature that parent mediated intervention may provide parents with the techniques needed to address problematic behaviors. The ability to apply these techniques at home with the assistance of a professional may correlate with a reduction of stress for the mother, especially when mothers are in a supportive co-parenting relationship. According to the literature review, parent training can also be a cost-effective means to treat ASD.

The review of literature suggested the benefit of parent training on father involvement but no study clearly defines the effect of APT on father involvement in terms of level of fathers' stress, coping strategies, their ideas about father involvement, and their ideas about responsibility. Because of the resulting limitations of the study due to COVID-19 in regards to planning procedures, the required sample sizes at all 3 data collection points was never achieved. It is very possible that the study sample size and modified designed played a critical role in the overall result. In addition, the low internal reliability of an assessment tool for Time 1 also puts the reliability of the findings of this study in question. The duplication of the study with the proper construct and design may produce a more robust result and may provide knowledge regarding father involvement which the review of literature view concludes has a gap of knowledge.

Repeated measures ANOVAs

Repeated measures ANOVAs were used to test the four research questions and corresponding hypotheses. The dependent variables met the assumptions for level of

measurement, normal distribution, lack of influential outliers, and sphericity as required for repeated measures ANOVA. All of the variables had adequate reliability with the exception of fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 (α = .42.).

The null hypotheses were accepted for Research Question 1, Research Question 2, Research Question 3, and Research Question 4. There was no main effect of time for any of the dependent variables as measured at Time 1, Time 2, and Time 3. The null hypothesis that a father's stress, as measured by the stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. Finally, the null hypothesis that a father's ability to be involved, as measured by the FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The APT did not lead to any statistically significant changes in fathers' stress, fathers' coping strategies, father's ideas about responsibility, or fathers' involvement.

However, these results are not reliable because of the low number of respondents who remained to provide data for Time 3. Not only did this sample size negatively affect the robustness of this analysis, but the fathers who remained may not have been representative of the full group.

Paired t Tests

Because of the limitations of applying the repeated one-way ANOVA to data where there was such a low number of responses for Time 3, paired *t* tests were used to test the four research questions and corresponding hypotheses based on the samples for Times 1 and 2. The dependent variables met the assumptions for level of measurement, normal distribution, lack of influential outliers, and sphericity as required. All of the variables had adequate reliability with the exception of fathers' coping strategies at Time 1 ($\alpha = .42$.).

The null hypotheses were not accepted for Research Question 1, Research Question 2, Research Question 3, and Research Question 4. There was no main effect of time for any of the dependent variables as measured at Time 1 and Time 2. The null hypothesis that a father's stress, as measured by the stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The null hypothesis that a father's coping strategies for stress, as measured by the coping strategies for stress of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. the null hypothesis that a father's idea about responsibility, as measured by the ideas about responsibility of FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. Finally, the null hypothesis that a father's ability to be involved, as measured by the FCDC Questionnaire, does not change because of his participation in APT was accepted. The APT did not lead to any statistically significant changes in fathers' stress, fathers' coping strategies, father's ideas about responsibility, or fathers' involvement.

Limitation

The size of the sample was limited because of a six month time limitation and the covid-19 pandemic. Many of the community partners who were to be used in recruiting participant was closed due to the pandemic, so recruiting participants was moved to online and via word of mouth. Moreover, the researcher is a DDSN employee and out of a total of 958 DDSN staff members who had been tested, 693 received positive test result. As a result there was enormous health risk associate with recruitment.

The original power analysis while planning this study suggested a minimum of 42 participants: however, I only was able to recruit 26 participants in the limited timeframed allotted. Secondly, the training aspect of the study was also moved online because of the corvid-19 pandemic. The participant viewed a short YouTube video produced by the South Carolina Department of Disabilities. The original training was proposed to be four hours and in person. Thus, another possible limitation to the training itself was the shift to the virtual alternative. Therefore, the null hypotheses were rejected for Research Questions, but under the original methodology presented, the study results could have varied dramatically.

Recommendations and Implications

The review of literature clarifies the importance of training for parents of children with ASD as a part of early intervention services. The review of literature also suggests that mothers usually take on the bulk of the tasks relating to implementation of ASD treatment strategies and that fathers need to be more involved in ASD treatment. Bagner (2013) asserted that traditional study on parent training fails to include fathers' involvement. Because there is limited research that has been done on autism parent training and fathers' involvement, it is recommended that this evaluation be considered for future study, specifically because of the study limitation posed by the covid-19 pandemic. Studies regarding factors that address father involvement is warranted, especially fathers with children with disabilities. This study highlights the gap in knowledge regarding support for father involvement and children with ASD, a critical area for positive social change.

Conclusion

This chapter concluded the study and discussed the findings. I experienced a number of limitations while attempting to explore an issue that needs to be addressed, father involvement with children with ASD. The theoretical framework of the study is the social learning theory, which suggests that learning and social behavior are inter-connected variables that are developed through observation and imitation. The social learning theory by Bandura (1963) hypothesized that learning can be produced through direct instruction and without reward or compensation. The study had a number of limitations with respect to the number of participants and the actual unexpected change of the nature of the training activities. In all reality, the study's findings did not offer a viable evaluation of the effects of variables because of its limitations. However, it did made an attempt to bring fathers together under a common family dynamic and a conceptual theory to explore the relationship between father involvement and autism parent training.

References

- Dabrowska, A., & Pisula, E. (2010). Parenting stress and coping styles in mothers and fathers of pre-school children with autism and Down syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, (3), 266. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01258.x
- Ali, M. M., & Dean, D. J. (2015). The influence of nonresident fathers on adolescent and young adult cigarette smoking. *Families, Systems, & Health*, 33(3), 314–323. doi:10.1037/fsh0000137.
- Alio, A. P., Lewis, C. A., Scarborough, K., Harris, K., & Fiscella, K. (2013). BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth Journal, 13(60). doi:0.1186/1471-2393-13-60.
- Allgood, S. M., & Beckert, T. E. (2012). The role of father involvement in the perceived psychological well-being of young adult daughters: A retrospective study. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 14(1), 95–110. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxy.lib.ucalgary.ca/docview/927903913/citation?a ccountid =9838
- American Psychological Association. (2017). *Human research protections*. http://www.apa.org/research/responsible/human/index.aspx
- Bachman, H. J., Coley, R. L., & Carrano, J. (2012). Low-income mothers' patterns of partnership instability and adolescents' socioemotional well-being. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(2), 263–273. doi:10.1037/a0027427.
- Bagner, D. (2013). Father's role in parent training for children with developmental delay. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 27(Aug, 4). doi:10.1037/a0033465

Barker, E. T., Mailick, M. R., & Smith, L. E. (2014). Chronic parenting stress in mothers of adolescents and adults with autism: Vulnerability and resilience.

Comprehensive guide to autism (pp. 207–222). Springer Science Business.

- Bandura, A. (1963). Social learning and personality development. Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall.
- Barlow, J., Bergman. H., Kornør, H., Wei, Y., & Bennett, C. (2016). Group-based parent training programs for improving emotional and behavioral adjustment in young children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (8). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003680.pub3.
- Bearss, K., Burrell, T. L., Stewart, L. M., & Scahill, L. (2015). Parent training in autism spectrum disorder: What is in a name? *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 18(2), 170–182. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-015-0179-5
- Beaudoin, A. J., Sébire, G., & Couture, M. (2014). Parent training interventions for toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research and Treatment*, 2014. http://doi.org/10.1155/2014/839890.
- Bloom, J. (2015). *Fathers' physical play with their children with autism: Benefits for fathers*. Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 5462.
- Brinkman, W. P., Haakma, R., & Bouwhuis, D. G. (2009). The theoretical foundation and validity of a component-based usability questionnaire. *Behavior & Information Technology*, 28(2), 121–137.
- Brown, G. L., McBride, B. A., Bost, K. K., & Shin, N. (2011). Parental involvement, child temperament, and parents' work hours: Differential relations for mothers

and fathers. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *32*(6), 313–322. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2011.08.004

- Brown, G. L., Mangelsdorf, S. C., & Neff, C. (2012). Father involvement, paternal sensitivity, and father-child attachment security in the first 3 years. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(3), 421–430. doi:10.1037/a0027836
- Burrell, A., Ives, J., & Unwin, G. (2017). The experiences of fathers who have offspring with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(4), 1135–1147. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3035-2
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). *Signs and symptoms-Autism spectrum disorder*.
- Cheuk, S., & Lashewicz, B. (2016). How are they doing? Listening as fathers of children with autism spectrum disorder compare themselves to fathers of children who are typically developing. *Sage Journal of Psychology*, 20(3), 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361315584464.
- Chong, W. H., & Kua, S. M. (2017). Parenting self-efficacy beliefs in parents of children with autism: Perspectives from Singapore. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 87(3), 365–375. doi10.1037/ort0000169.
- Coates, E. E., & Pharos, V. (2014). Predictors of paternal involvement among nonresidential, Black fathers from low-income neighborhoods. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 15(2), 138–151. doi:10.1037/a0032790
- Colman, A. (2015). *Theory of reasoned action in a dictionary of psychology*. ISBN: 9780199534067.

- Cox, D. R. (1958). The regression analysis of binary sequences. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B*, 20, 215–242.
- Craig, F., Margari, F., Legrottaglie, A. R., Palumbi, R., de Giambattista, C., & Margari,
 L. (2016). A review of executive function deficits in autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *12*, 1191–1202. http://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S104620
- Dabrowska, A. (2008). Sense of coherence and coping with stress in fathers of children with developmental disabilities. *Polish Psychological Bulletin*, *39*(1), 29. https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edo&AN=ejs17339783&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Dabrowska, A., & Pisula, E. (2010). Parenting stress and coping styles in mothers and fathers of pre-school children with autism and Down syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 54, 266–280. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01258.x.
- Dardas, L. & Ahmad, M. (2013). Coping strategies as mediators and moderatos between stress and quality of life among parents of children with autistic disorder stress and health. doi:10.1002/smi.2513
- Devi, L. D. (2016). Stressors, level of stress and coping mechanism adopted by the first time expectant fathers. *Nursing & Midwifery Research Journal*, *12*(4), 189–195. https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=a9h&AN=120945637&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Doswell, W., Braxter, B., Cha, E., & Kim, K. (2011). Testing the theory of reasoned action in explaining sexual behavior among African American young teen girls. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 26(6), e45–54. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2011.03.007
- Dyer, W. J., Day, R. D., & Harper, J. M. (2014). Father involvement: Identifying and predicting family members' shared and unique perceptions. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(4), 516–528. doi:10.1037/a0036903
- Edin, K., & Nelson, T. J. (2013). *Doing the best I can: Fatherhood in the inner city*. University of California Press.
- Eikeseth, S., Klintwall, L., Diane Hayward, D. & Gale, C. (2015). Stress in parents of children with autism participating in early and intensive behavioral intervention. *European Journal of Behavior Analysis*, *16*(16). http://doi.org/10.1080/15021149.2015.1066566.
- El Feki, S., Heilman, B., & Barker, G. (2017). Understanding masculinities: Results from the international men and gender equality Questionnaire - Middle East and North Africa. UN Women & Promundo-US.
- Elder, J. H., Valcante, G., Yarandi, H., White, D., & Elder, T. H. (2005). Evaluating inhome training for fathers of children with autism using single-subject experimentation and group analysis methods. *Nursing Research*, 54, 22–32.
- Estes, A., Munson, J., Rogers, J., Greenson, J., Winter, J., & Dawson, J. (2015). Longterm outcomes of early intervention in 6-year-old children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 341(3), doi:10.1016

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191.
- Flippin, M., & Crais, E. (2011). The need for more effective father involvement in early autism intervention, a systematic review, and recommendations. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 33(1), 24–50, 10. doi: 1177/1053815111400415
- Frye, L. (2015) Fathers' experience with autism spectrum disorder: Nursing implications. Journal of Pediatric Health Care. doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2015.10.012
- Furlong, M., McGilloway, S., Bywater, T., Hutchings, J., Smith, S. M., & Donnelly, M. (2012). Behavioral and cognitive-behavioral group-based parenting programs for early-onset conduct problems in children aged 3 to 12 years. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (2). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008225.pub2
- Garbacz, S. A., McIntyre, L. L., & Santiago, R. T. (2016). Family involvement and parent-teacher relationships for students with autism spectrum disorders. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 31(4), 478–490. doi: 10.1037/spq0000157.
- Garfield, C. F., & Isacco, A. I. (2012). Urban fathers' involvement in their child's health and healthcare. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 13(1), 32–48. doi: 10.1037/a0025696.
- Gouin, J., Scarcello, S., da Estrela, C., Paquin, C., & Barker, E. T. (2016). Dyadic coping and inflammation in the context of chronic stress. *Health Psychology*, 35(10), 1081–1084. doi: 10.1037/hea0000395.

Greene, W. H. (2012). *Econometric analysis* (7th ed.). Pearson Education.

Hamer, J. F. (2014). Review of the Book Doing the best I can: Fatherhood in the inner city by Edin, K. & T. Nelson. *Sage Journals*, 28(5), 775–777. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243214534913.

Hardan, A. Y., Gengoux, G. W., Berquist, K. L., Libove, R. A., Ardel, C. M., Phillips, J.
... Minjarez, M. B. (2015). A randomized controlled trial of pivotal response treatment group for parents of children with autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 56*, 884–892. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12354.

- Harewood, T., Vallotton, C. D., & Brophy, H. H. (2017). More than just the breadwinner: The effects of fathers' parenting stress on children's language and cognitive development. *Infant & Child Development*, 26(2), n/a-N.PAG. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/icd.1984
- Harrison, A. J., Long, K. A., Manji, K. P., & Blane, K. K. (2016). Development of a brief intervention to improve knowledge of autism and behavioral strategies among parents in Tanzania. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 54(3), 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-54.3.187.
- Hayes, S. A., & Watson, S. L. (2013). The impact of parenting stress: A meta-analysis of studies comparing the experience of parenting stress in parents of children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(3), 629–642. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1604-y
- Heilman, B., Levtov, R., van der Gaag, N., Hassink, A., & Barker, G. (2017). State of the world's fathers: Time for Action. A MenCare Advocacy Publication.

- Hernandez, D. C., & R. Coley. (2007). Measuring father involvement within low-income families: Who is a reliable and valid reporter? *Parenting: Science & Practice*, 7, 69–97.
- Hewitson, L., Richardson, W., Schutte, C., Potts, A., Marti, C. N. (2016). Maternal stress and maladaptive behavior in children with ASD participating in a multidisciplinary program providing medical care, dietetic support, educational consultation and family resources: A pilot study. *Journal of Psychiatry Mental Health*, 2(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.16966/2474-7769.113.
- Hu, C. C., Li, Y., Zhou, B., Liu, C. X., Li, C. Y., Zhang, Y., ... Xu, X. (2017). Reducing maternal parenting stress of children with autism spectrum disorder: Father's involvement. *Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi*, 55(5), 355–359. doi:10.3760/cma.j.issn.0578-1310.2017.05.009.
- Ibrahim, M. H., Somers, J. A., Luecken, L. J., Fabricius, W. V., & Cookston, J. T. (2017). Father–adolescent engagement in shared activities: Effects on cortisol stress response in young adulthood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *31*(4), 485–494. doi: 10.1037/fam0000259.
- Jia, R., Kotila, L. E., & Schoppe-Sullivan, S. J. (2012). Transactional relations between father involvement and preschoolers' socioemotional adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(6), 848–857. doi: 10.1037/a0030245.
- Jones, L., Totsika, V., Hastings, R. P., & Petalas, M. A. (2013). Gender differences when parenting children with autism spectrum disorders: A multilevel modeling approach. *Journal of Autism Developmental Disorder*, 43, 2090–2098. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1756-9.

- Kasari, C., Lawton, K., Shih, W., Barker, T. V., Landa, R., Lord, C., Senturk, D. (2014). Caregiver-mediated intervention for low-resourced preschoolers with autism: An RCT. *Pediatrics*, *134*(1), e72–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3229.
- Kasari, C., Gulsrud, A., Paparella, T., Hellemann, G., & Berry, K. (2015). Randomized comparative efficacy study of parent-mediated interventions for toddlers with autism. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 83(3), 554–563. doi: 10.1037/a0039080.
- Kotila, L. E., & Dush, C. M. K. (2012). Another baby? Father involvement and childbearing in fragile families. *Journal of Family Psychology : Journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association* (*Division 43*), 26(6), 976–986. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0030715.
- Knoester, C., & Petts, R. J. (2017). Fathers' parenting stress after the arrival of a new child. *Family Relations*, (3), 367. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/fare.12263
- Lamb, M. E., Pleck, J. H., Charnov, E. L., & Levine, J. A. (1985). Paternal behavior in humans. American Zoologist, 25, 883–894.
- Lamb, M., Pleck, J., Charnov, E., & Levine, J. (1985). The role of the father in child development: The effects of increased paternal involvement. In B. Lahey, & A. Kazdin (Eds.), *Advances in clinical child psychology* (pp. 229–266). Plenum Press.
- Lamb, M. E., Pleck, J. H., Charnov, E. L., & Levine, J. A. (1987). A biosocial perspective on paternal behavior and involvement. *Parenting across the life span: Biosocial dimensions* (pp. 111–142). Publisher.

- Laxman, D. J., McBride, B. A., Jeans, L. M., Dyer, M. J., Santos, R., Kern, J. L., Weglarz-Ward, J. M. (2015). Father involvement and maternal depressive symptoms in families of children with disabilities or delays. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 19(5), 1078. doi: 10.1007/s10995-014-1608-7.
- Lindberg, L. D., & Kost, K. (2014). Exploring U.S. men's birth intentions. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 18(3), 625–633. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-013-1286-x.
- Lindberg, L. D., Kost, K., & Maddow-Zimet, I. (2017). The role of men's childbearing intentions in father involvement. *Family Relationship Journal*, 79, 44–59. doi:10.1111/jomf.12377.
- Lee, S. J., Pace, G. T., Lee, J. Y., & Knauer, H. (n.d.). The association of fathers' parental warmth and parenting stress to child behavior problems. *Children Youth Service Review*, 91, 1–10. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.05.020

- Ly, A. R., & Goldberg, W. A. (2014). New measure for fathers of children with developmental challenges. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 58, 471– 484. doi:10.1111/jir.12044.
- Mallette, J. K., Futris, T. G., Brown, G. L., & Oshri, A. (2015). The influence of father involvement and interparental relationship quality on adolescent mothers' maternal identity. *Family Relations*, 64, 476–489. doi:10.1111/fare.12132.
- Marsiglio, W., & Roy, K. (2012). *Nurturing dads: Social initiatives for contemporary fatherhood*. Russell Sage Foundation.

- Marsiglio, W., & Roy, K. (2013). Fathers' nurturance of marriage children over the family life course. In. G. Petersen, & K. Bush (Eds.), *Handbook of marriage and the family* (pp. 353–376). Springer.
- May, C., Fletcher, R., Dempsey, I., & Newman, L. (2015). Modeling relations among coparenting quality, autism-specific parenting self-efficacy, and parenting stress in mothers and fathers of children with ASD. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, *15*(2), 119–133. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/15295192.2015.1020145

- McCullagh, P. (1980). Regression models for ordinal data. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B (Methodological), 42*(2), 109–142.
- Meuwissen, A. S., & Carlson, S. M. (2015). Fathers matter: The role of father autonomy support and control in preschoolers' executive function development. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 140, 1–15.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2015.06.010.

- Meuwissen, A. S., & Englund, M. M. (2016). Executive function in at-risk children: Importance of father-figure support and mother parenting. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 44, 72–80. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.04.002.
- Michigan State University. (2016, July 14). *Dads play key role in child development*. Science Daily. www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2016/07/160714110912.htm
- Murphy, J., & Zlomke, K. R. (2016). A behavioral parent-training intervention for a child with avoidant/restrictive food intake disorder. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology*, 4(1), 23–34. doi: 10.1037/cpp0000128.

- National Institute of Mental Health. (2016, Month Date). *Autism spectrum disorders*. http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/eating-disorders/index.shtml.
- Oono, I. P., Honey, E. J., & McConachie, H. (2013). Parent-mediated early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Cochrane Database System Reviews*, (4). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009774.pub2
- Panter-Brick, C., Burgess, A., Eggerman, M., McAllister, F., Pruett, K., & Leckman, J. F. (2014). Practitioner review: Engaging fathers Recommendations for a game change in parenting interventions based on a systematic review of the global evidence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 55(11), 1187–1212. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12280.
- Petrongolo, M. (2014). Stress in mothers of newly diagnosed children with autism spectrum disorders: Barriers to care, use of support services, and child behavior (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from PCOM Psychology Dissertations.
- Planalp, E. M., & Braungart-Rieker, J. M. (2016). Determinants of father involvement with young children: Evidence from the early childhood longitudinal study–birth cohort. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30(1), 135–146. doi: 10.1037/fam0000156.
- Pleck, J. H. (2010). Paternal involvement: Revised conceptualization and theoretical linkages with child outcomes. In M. E. Lamb (Ed.), *The role of the father in child development* (pp. 58–93). Wiley.
- Pleck, J. H. (2012). Integrating father involvement in parenting research. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 12(2–3), 243–253. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15295192.2012.683365.

- Reed, P., Picton, L., Grainger, N., & Osborne, L. A. (2016). Impact of diagnostic practices on the self-reported health of mothers of recently diagnosed children with ASD. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *13*(9), 888. http://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13090888.
- Rocha, M. L., Schreibman, L., & Stahmer, A. C. (2007). Effectiveness of training parents to teach joint attention in children with autism. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 29, 154–172.
- Rogers, S. J., Estes, A., Lord, C., Vismara, L., Winter, J., Fitzpatrick, A., & Dawson, G. (2012). Effects of a brief early start denver model (ESDM)-based parent intervention on toddlers at risk for autism spectrum disorders: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *51*, 1052–1065. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2012.08.003
- Romirowsky, A. M, & Chronis-Tuscano, A. (2014). Paternal ADHD symptoms and child conduct problems: Is father involvement always beneficial? *Child Care Health Dev*, 40(5), 706–14.
- Roubinov, D. S., Luecken, L. J., Gonzales, N. A., & Crnic, K. A. (2016). Father involvement in Mexican-origin families: Preliminary development of a culturally informed measure. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 22(2), 277–287. doi: 10.1037/cdp0000063.
- Rouyer, V., Frascarolo, F., Zaouche-Gaudron, C., & Lavanchy, C. (2007). Fathers of girls, fathers of boys: Influence of child's gender on fathers' experience of, engagement in, and representations of paternity. *Swiss Journal of*

Psychology/Schweizerische Zeitschrift Für Psychologie/Revue Suisse De Psychologie, 66(4), 225–233. doi:10.1024/1421-0185.66.4.225

- Schultz, T. R. (2013). Parent-implemented intervention fact sheet. Retrieved from Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina, Frank Porter Graham Child Development Institute, the National Professional Development Center on Autism: http://autismpdc.fpg.unc.edu/sites/autismpdc.fpg.unc.edu/files/2014-EBP-Report.pdf
- Scourfield, J., & Nasiruddin, Q. (2015). Religious adaptation of a parenting programme:
 Process evaluation of the family links Islamic values course for Muslim fathers.
 Child Care Health Dev, 41, 697–703. doi:10.1111/cch.12228
- Sethna, V., Perry, E., Domoney, J., Iles, J., Psychogiou, L., Rowbotham, N. E. L., ...
 Ramchandani, P. G. (2017). Father–child interactions at 3 months and 24 months:
 Contributions to children's cognitive development at 24 months. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *38*, 378–390. doi:10.1002/imhj.21642
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61(3), 261–264. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410.
- Shannon, J. D., Cabrera, N. J., Tamis-LeMonda, C., & Lamb, M. E. (2009). Who stays and who leaves? Father accessibility across children is first 5 years. *Parenting, Science and Practice*, 9(1–2), 78–100. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1080/15295190802656786.

- Shave, K., & Lashewicz, B. (2016). Support needs of fathers of children with ASD: Individual, family, community and ideological influences. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual*, 29, 495–507. doi:10.1111/jar.12204.
- Sheppard, B. H., Hartwick, J., Warshaw, P. R. (1988). The theory of reasoned action: A meta-analysis of past research with recommendations for modifications and future research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 15(3), 325–343. doi: 10.1086/209170
- Smith, L. E., & Anderson, K. A. (2014). The roles and needs of families of adolescents with ASD. *Remedial and Special Education*, 35(2), 114–122. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1177/0741932513514616.
- Soltanifar, A., Akbarzadeh, F., Moharreri, F., Soltanifar, A., Ebrahimi, A., Mokhber, N., Ali Naqvi, S. S. (2015). Comparison of parental stress among mothers and fathers of children with autistic spectrum disorder in Iran. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 20(1), 93–98.
- Steiner, A. M., Koegel, L. K., Koegel, R. L., & Ence, L. (2012). Issues and theoretical constructs regarding parent education for autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *42*, 1218. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1194-0.
- Stevenson, M. M., Fabricius, W. V., Cookston, J. T., Parke, R. D., Coltrane, S., Braver, S. L., & Saenz, D. S. (2014). Marital problems, maternal gatekeeping attitudes, and father-child relationships in adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 50, 1208–1218. doi: 10.1037/a0035327.
- Symon, J. B. (2005). Expanding interventions with children with autism: Parents as trainers. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 7, 159–173.

Tellegen, C. L., & Sanders, M. R. (2014). A randomized controlled trial evaluating a brief parenting program with children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 82(6), 1193–1200.

doi:10.1037/a0037246web.b.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.or

- The University of North Carolina School of Medicine. (2015). Simple strategies used by fathers lead to improvements in 1 year-olds at risk for autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research and Treatment*. doi:10.1155/2015/386951
- Tolin, D., McKay, D., Forman, E., Klonsky E., & Thombs, B. (2015). Empirically supported treatment: Recommendations for a new model. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 22(4). doi:10.1111/cpsp.12122.
- Towe-Goodman, N. R., Willoughby, M., Blair, C., Gustafsson, H. C., Mills-Koonce, W. R., & Cox, M. J. (2014). Fathers' sensitive parenting and the development of early executive functioning. *Journal of Family Psychology : Journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association* (*Division 43*), 28(6), 867–876. doi.org/10.1037/a0038128.
- Tully, L. A., Piotrowska, P. J., Collins, D. A. J., Mairet, K. S., Black, N., Kimonis, E. R.,
 ... Dadds, M. R. (2017). Optimising child outcomes from parenting interventions:
 Fathers' experiences, preferences and barriers to participation. *BMC Public Health*, 17, 550. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4426-1
- University of Missouri-Columbia. (2013, April 8). *Marriages benefit when fathers share household, parenting responsibilities, MU researcher says.* Science Daily. www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2013/04/130408133919.htm.

Vagias, W. M. (2006). Likert-type scale response anchors. Clemson University.

- Waldman, H. B., Compton, K., Cannella, D., & Perlman, S. P. (2013). Illegal immigrants with disabilities: The complications for children with special needs added to the general difficulties faced by immigrants of overcoming the barriers of culture, economics, language and the availability of health services. *The Exceptional Parent*, *43*(12), 12–14.
- Wetherby, A. M., Guthrie, W., Woods, J., Schatschneider, C., Holland, R. D., Morgan, L., & Lord, C. (2014). Parent-implemented social intervention for toddlers with autism: An RCT. *Pediatrics*, 134(6), 1084–1093. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0757.
- Wolff, J. R., Pak, J., Meeske, K., Worden, J. W., & Katz, E. (2011). Understanding why fathers assume primary medical caretaker responsibilities of children with lifethreatening illnesses. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *12*(2), 144–157. doi: 10.1037/a0022391.
- Zaveri, H., Baumgartner, S., Dion, R., & Clary, L. (2015). Parents and children together: Design and implementation of responsible fatherhood programs. OPRE Report Number 2015–76. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Zvara, B. J., Schoppe-Sullivan, S. J., & Dush, C. K. (2013). Fathers' involvement in child health care: Associations with prenatal involvement, parents' beliefs, and maternal gatekeeping. *Family Relation*, 62, 649–661. doi:10.1111/fare.12023

Appendix A: Research Announcement

CALL FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS!

MAKE YOUR OPINION COUNT!

Fathers of children who have been made eligible for state autism services and are willing to attended Autism Parent training are needed! Looking to find out what impact autism parent training has had on how you raise children with autism! If you decide to participate, you will be required to sign a consent form, attend APT, and complete a questionnaire before the training, after the training, and 30 days after the training. Volunteers will fill out a questionnaire in English.

Appendix B: Participation in Research

Exploring the Relationships between Autism Parent Training and Fathers' Parental Involvement

Why am I being asked? You are being asked to be a participant in a research study about "Exploring Father Involvement Factors Impacting Fathers' Participation in Autism Training" to provide information regarding the relationship between fathers' involvement and APT. The overall goal of this study is to improve treatment success. Ray Brown, a Psychology student at Walden University, who is seeking a doctoral degree in Educational Psychology, is conducting this research study. You have been asked to participate in this research because you have attended autism parent training and may wish to share your information on account of attending training. We ask that you read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to participate in the research.

Your participation in this research is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Walden University or any agency or individual who is providing treatment to you and/or your child. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without affecting these relationships.

What is the Purpose of this Research?

This research study will be able to gather information, by using a questionnaire, about a father's perspective when raising a child with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), specifically to understand how easy or hard it is to do so, and a father's understandings of their role with a child who has ASD. The questionnaire is easy to fill out and takes only about 10 minutes to complete.

What procedures are involved?

If you agree to be in this research, we would ask you to do the following things:

- Read the consent form provided
- Complete the questionnaire provided
- Return the questionnaire to the researcher by mail or email.

Furthermore, approximately 32 participants may be involved in this research.

What are the potential risks and discomforts?

Risks and discomforts expected for you during this study are minimal. You may experience a small amount of emotional distress if, when answering certain questions, you are reminded of the difficult life experiences. If so, you can choose not to answer these questions. You can also call the Emotional Distress Hotline, a national mental health hotline, available 24/7 for free, at1-800-LIFENET.

Are there benefits to taking part in the research?

There is the benefit of knowing that your experiences will affect and benefit others in the future. However, there are no direct benefits to you, the participant, from this study at this time.

What about privacy and confidentiality?

No one will know that you are a research subject other than the researcher, because none of the information about you or provided by you during the research will ever be disclosed to others. When the results of the research are published or discussed in conferences, no information will be included that could ever reveal your identity.

Will I be reimbursed for any of my expenses or paid for my participation in

this research?

There will be no payments, no reimbursements, and no incentives for participation in this study.

Can I withdraw from the study?

It is your choice whether to be in this study or not. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without any consequences. You may also refuse to answer any questions you do not want to answer and still participate in the study.

Whom should I contact if I have questions?

The researcher conducting this study is Ray Brown. You may ask any questions you have now to him You may also contact the researcher's thesis adviser, Dr. Rolande Murray PhD, at <u>rmurray@waldenu.edu</u>.

What are my rights as a research subject?

If you feel you have not been treated according to the descriptions in this form or you have any questions about your rights as a research subject, you may contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University through the following representative: Appendix C: Fathers of Children with Developmental Challenges (FCDC) Questionnaire

The 20 items primarily addressed the psychological and cultural/institutional factors identified as contributors to stress and predictors of involvement among fathers (Lamb et al., 1987; Pleck, 2012). Furthermore, cognitions about fathering have been increasingly included into research (Pleck, 2007), thus items tapping into feelings and thoughts about fatherhood were included. Given that the acceptance of the child's DC has been shown to be uniquely associated with fathers' family experiences (Keller & Honig 2004), seven of the 20 items concerned this topic. The remaining 13 items were distributed among the topics of competence in the parenting role and therapy-related involvement. Hence, it was anticipated that the FCDC would consist of three factors that would be specific to fathers' experiences: acceptability of the child's diagnosis, parenting competence, and acknowledgement by service providers, but only two factors (i.e., two sub-scales) were later confirmed (see Results). All items in the FCDC were worded to reflect the context of raising children with DCs (see Table 1 and Appendix 1 for the full list of items). Participants indicated their agreement with each item as it generally applied to them on a scale ranging from one (strongly agree) to five (strongly disagree). Items were scored such that higher total scores indicated that fathers experienced greater supports to their involvement with their child. For the fathers who were not able to attend at least one educational or therapy-related meeting, a list was compiled of possible reasons why they did not attend it. Reasons were drawn from the same process as item generation. Fathers were selected from the list with respect to all the reasons that applied to them (see Table 4 for the full list of reasons).



Appendix D: Demographic Graphs